# Western University Scholarship@Western

**Digitized Theses** 

**Digitized Special Collections** 

2011

# PPARO AND AMPK PATHWAYS IN CARTILAGE

**Emily Ann LeBlanc** 

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses

#### **Recommended Citation**

LeBlanc, Emily Ann, "PPARO AND AMPK PATHWAYS IN CARTILAGE" (2011). *Digitized Theses*. 3482. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/digitizedtheses/3482

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Digitized Special Collections at Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Digitized Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### **PPARδ AND AMPK PATHWAYS IN CARTILAGE**

the state of the s

(Thesis Format: Monograph)

By

Emily A. <u>LeBlanc</u>

**Graduate Program in Physiology** 

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Emily LeBlanc 2011

### THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO THE UNIVERSITY OF WESTERN ONTARIO School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

### **CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION**

**Supervisor** 

**Examiners** 

Dr. Frank Beier

Supervisory Committee

Dr. Dean Betts (GSR)

Dr. Nica Borradaile

Dr. Trevor Birmingham (JuMP Mentor)

Dr. Dan Hardy

Dr. Brad Urquhart

Dr. Harvey Goldberg

The thesis by

**Emily Ann LeBlanc** 

entitled:

#### **PPARδ AND AMPK PATHWAYS IN CARTILAGE**

is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

Date

Chair of the Thesis Examination Board

#### ABSTRACT

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease characteristic of articular cartilage breakdown. Molecular mechanisms of OA are not well understood. Roles of the PPAR& and AMPK pathways in cartilage have been suggested but are not well defined. We hypothesized that the AMPK and PPAR& pathways control cartilage ECM turnover by altering chondrocyte gene expression. Mouse primary chondrocytes and adult knee joint explant cultures were treated with either a PPAR& (GW1516) or an AMPK agonist (AICAR). Cell culture was analyzed by palmitate oxidation assay, MTT assay and Realtime PCR. Histological stains and immunohistochemistry were used to analyze explant culture tissues. Changes in gene expression of catabolic factors were demonstrated for both treatments, as well as a decrease in matrix proteoglycan staining. GW1516 also increased fatty acid oxidation, while AICAR decreased cell number. Results indicate involvement of both pathways in early OA changes and suggest that both could be novel therapeutic targets.

**Keyword:** Osteoarthritis, articular cartilage, PPARô, AMPK, fatty acid oxidation, primary chondrocyte culture, extracellular matrix homeostasis

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Moving to London almost 2 years ago, I never would have thought of the shear number of people I would want to acknowledge here. Now as I prepare to leave, I leave knowing an incredible group of people, without whom I would not have survived the past 2 years. A special thanks goes to my supervisor, Dr. Frank Beier. Frank, thank you for welcoming me into your lab and for putting up with the crazy, enthusiastic personality that you would only discover when it was too late. Without your help, guidance and constant encouragement I would not be where I am today.

Another important thanks goes to Drs. Nica Borradaile and Anita Woods. Thank you both for always being a place I could go to with any questions or just to escape the lab. Next, I would like to sincerely thank all members of the Beier lab (past and present). Thank you all for putting up with my laugh, which I'm told on most days can actually be heard from all corners of the hallway. Although others comment on the size of our lab, I wouldn't choose to surround myself with any other group of people. Somehow we make our crazy, dysfunctional lab family work. Special thanks to Veronica, Dawn and Holly for their kindness and for always being willing to share their infinite lab wisdom. Perlus, you are a great lab brother and a great friend, thank you for everything. Shirine, thank you for always being the best shoulder to cry on and for the "Tea for Two".

To all members of LG DSB: Working on a floor as friendly and as helpful as this has made my time here an experience that I'll never forget. It's not everyday that you find an entire lab full of amazing, kind and fun loving people, let alone an entire group of labs. Paul, your strong work ethic has always inspired me and has honestly helped me get through the last couple of months. Thank you for always being there and for being ready

iv

with a great music suggestion when needed. Matt G and Kim, I would not have made it through all the late nights without the two of you. You have both been incredible friends to me and I will never forget the hurling of insults that was always able to brighten my day. I will miss the "massive excrements of time" that we always generated. Cheryle, thank you for allowing me to make your lab my second home and for always being there when advice was needed. Matt M, no matter the time of day or what you had going on, you always listened to my rants, thank you for that! Nicole, it's not every day that you meet someone so much like yourself that you also get along with so well. I'll miss our matching wardrobes, tea trips, lunch dates, random dance parties, secret photo opts, Gangster Saturdays and random outbursts in general.

Lastly, I'd like to thank my friends and family at home. Thank you all for being my constant cheerleaders (even from 2000 km away) and for supporting me in all my crazy decisions, including hastily deciding to move partially across the country to a city I barely knew. To my best friend Ellen- even being in Nova Scotia you were always the voice of reason. Thank you for all your support. My sister-cousin Alix, your fun-loving outlook on life has always helped keep me grounded. Thank you for the Skype dates and for listening to my irrational phone calls at any time of day. My "little" brother Marc, thank you for always knowing how to make me laugh, even at times when I didn't think it was possible. Most importantly, I'd like to thank my parents for being my constant inspiration. Thank you for putting up with my phone calls at basically any location you were during the course of a day. Thank you for dealing with the range of emotions that I threw at you and for never complaining once. I love you all!

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	ii
ABSTRACT AND KEYWORDS	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF APPENDICES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	xiii
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Osteoarthritis	2
1.1.1 Synovial Joint Structure	3
1.1.2 Pathological Changes in Osteoarthritis	3
1.2 Articular Cartilage	7
1.2.1 Chondrocytes	7
1.2.2 Extracellular Matrix	10
1.2.3 Zones of Articular Cartilage	11
1.3 Matrix Turnover	14
1.3.1 Important Transcription Factors in Cartilage	15
1.3.2 Anabolic Factors	16
1.3.3 Catabolic Factors	18
1.3.4 Matrix Metalloproteinases	18

1.3.5 Aggrecanases in Osteoarthritis	
1.3.6 Additional Catabolic Factors	
1.3.7 Aggrecan Cleavage	
1.4 Molecular signaling in cartilage	
1.4.1 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors	
1.4.2 AMP-activated protein kinase	
1.5 Objectives and Hypothesis	
2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Animals	
2.2 Primary Chondrocyte Isolation	
2.3 Cell Culture	
2.4 Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction	
2.5 MTT Assay	
2.6 Palmitate Oxidation Assay35	
2.7 Explant Culture	
2.8 Histological Stains	
2.9 Immunohistochemistry	
2.10 Statistical Analysis	
3.0 RESULTS 40	
3.1 PPAR& activation increases fatty acid oxidation of primary chondrocytes, but does	
not significantly affect expression of the lipid metabolism	
3.2 Primary chondrocyte cell number is unchanged by GW1516 treatment	

3.3 Sox9 gene expression is decreased by GW1516 treatment, while other anabolic
markers are unaffected by treatment
3.4 Gene expression of the matrix metalloproteinase's Mmp2 and Mmp3 is increased
following GW1516 treatment
3.5 PPAR8 agonist treatment influences expression of ADAMTS genes
3.6 <i>Htra1</i> gene expression is unaffected by GW1516 treatment
3.7 <i>Timp3</i> gene expression is increased following GW1516 treatment
3.8 Knee joint explant culture demonstrates loss of proteoglycan staining in the matrix
and no change in collagen staining following GW1516 treatment
3.9 Fatty acid oxidation is unaffected by AMPK agonist treatment
3.10 AICAR treatment significantly decreases chondrocyte cell number
3.11 AMPK agonist treatment does not change Sox9 or Aggrecan gene expression, but
increases expression of type II collagen
3.12 Matrix metalloproteinase gene expression is unchanged following AICAR
treatment
3.13 Aggrecanase gene expression of primary chondrocytes is altered following
AICAR treatment in culture
3.14 AICAR treatment does not affect <i>Htra1</i> gene expression
3.15 <i>Timp3</i> expression unaffected by AICAR treatment
3.16 Treatment of cartilage explant culture with AICAR reveals decreased staining for
proteoglycan, while no change noted in matrix collagen
4.0 DISCUSSION
4.1 Summary of results

4.2 Contribution to current knowledge of the roles of PPAR $\delta$ and AMPK in the	
regulation of chondrocyte gene expression and articular cartilage homeostasis	92
4.3 Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research	94
4.4 Significance	99
5.0 REFERENCES	, <b>. 98</b>
APPENDICES	116
CURRICULUM VITAE	121

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Synovial Joint
Figure 1.2 Composition of Articular Cartilage Tissue
Figure 1.3 Zones of Articular Cartilage
<b>Figure 1.4</b> PPARδ function as transcriptional regulator
Figure 1.5 AMPK regulation of cellular ATP
<b>Figure 3.1</b> PPARδ agonist treatment increases fatty acid oxidation in culture
<b>Figure 3.2</b> PPARδ agonist treatment does not alter cell number in culture
<b>Figure 3.3</b> PPAR $\delta$ agonist treatment decreases <i>Sox9</i> gene expression but does not
influence gene expression of ECM components
Figure 3.4 PPAR8 agonist treatment increases MMP2 and MMP3 gene expression 51
Figure 3.5 PPAR <sup>8</sup> agonist treatment influences Aggrecanse expression
Figure 3.6 PPAR $\delta$ agonist treatment causes increased expression of <i>Adamts7</i> and
Adamts12
Figure 3.7 Treatment with a PPAR <sup>8</sup> agonist increases <i>Timp3</i> gene expression
Figure 3.8 Treatment with a PPAR $\delta$ agonist in organ culture shows a trend towards
decreased proteoglycan content in articular cartilage extracellular matrix
Figure 3.9 PPAR $\delta$ agonist treatment increases Aggrecan neopitope staining, does not
affect type II collagen staining in the ECM

Figure 3.10 AMPK agonist treatment does not affect fatty acid oxidation in culture 65
Figure 3.11 AMPK agonist treatment causes decreased cell number in culture
Figure 3.12 AMPK agonist treatment increases type II collagen gene expression
Figure 3.13 AMPK agonist treatment does not influence matrix metalloproteinase gene
expression
Figure 3.14 AICAR treatment influences <i>Adamts1</i> and <i>Adamts5</i> expression
Figure 3.15 AMPK agonist treatment decreases relative gene expression of Adamts778
Figure 3.16 Treatment with an AMPK agonist does not affect <i>Htra1</i> or <i>Timp3</i> gene
expression
Figure 3.17 Treatment with an AMPK agonist in organ culture shows a trend towards
decreased proteoglycan content in articular cartilage extracellular matrix
Figure 3.18 AMPK agonist treatment increases Aggrecan neoepitope staning, does not
affect type II collagen staining in the ECM

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A	Animal Use Protocol
Appendix B.	Supplementary Figure
	Description from the second day

## ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

ADAMTS	A disintergrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs
AICAR	5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-β-d-ribofuranoside
AMP	Adenosine Monophosphate
AMPK	Adenosin Monophosphate Protein Kinase
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
АТР	Adenosine Triphosphate
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
DAB	Diaminobenzidine
dH2O	Distilled water
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
DMM	Destabilization of the medial meniscus
DMSO	Dimethyl Suloxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FGF-2	Fibroblast Growth Factor
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GLUT4	Glucose transporter Type 4
G1	Globular Domain 1

G2	Globular Domain 2
G3	Globular Domain 3
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HtrA1	High temperature requirement A 1
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IGD	Interglobular domain
IGF-1	Insulin-like Growth Factor-1
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL-1	Interleukin-1
Lpl	Lipoprotein lipase
MEM	Modified Eagle's Medium
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NaOH	Sodium hydroxide
NO	Nitric Oxide
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
Pen-strep	Penicillin-Streptomycin
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PPAR	Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor
RNA	Ribonucleic Acid
RXR	Retinoid X Receptor

SEM	Standard error of mean
Sox9	SRY (sex determining region Y) box 9
Sox5	SRY (sex determining region Y) box 5
Sox6	SRY (sex determining region Y) box 6
TCA	Trichloroacetic acid
TGFβ	Transforming Growth Factor Beta
TIMPs	Tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases
TNFα	Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha
<sup>3</sup> H	Tritium
α	Alpha
β	Beta
δ	Delta
γ	Gamma

A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OFTA CONTRACTOR O

# 1.0 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease and the most common form of arthritis occurring within our population (Poole, 1999; Reginster, 2002; Aigner *et al.*, 2006). Any part of the joint structure can be affected during the disease state. However, one defining feature of OA is the degeneration of articular cartilage (Goldring & Goldring, 2007). As a result of cartilage degeneration, chronic pain and impaired joint function arise as the main symptoms of the disease. Recently, OA has become more prevalent within our society, which can be attributed to a number of factors including an aging population and increasing biomechanical loads as a result of increasing obesity rates (Goldring & Goldring, 2007; Krasnokutsky *et al.*, 2007). For the same reason, the prevalence of OA is expected to rise further in the coming decades.

Despite the high prevalence of this disease and the extensive socioeconomical impact it has on our society, the molecular mechanisms that contribute to and ultimately cause the degeneration of cartilage tissue remain mostly unknown. As a result, there has been no cure or long-term pharmacological treatment plan established for this disease. Current therapeutic options focus on managing disease symptoms and are unable to fully address the underlying mechanisms that are leading to the eventual breakdown of cartilage tissue. It is for these reasons that a better understanding of the pathological progression of OA is needed.

### 1.1.1 Synovial Joint Structure

Synovial joints are specially designed structures that allow for frictionless and coordinated movements (Figure 1.1) (Mow & Lai, 1980). The epiphysis of each articulating bone is covered by a thin layer of cartilage, beneath which lies the subchondral bone. The entire joint is encapsulated by the synovial membrane and its lining cells, the synoviocytes. The synoviocytes are metabolically active cells that maintain the composition of the synovial fluid, which functions in lubricating the joint during movement (Aigner *et al.*, 2006; Schmidt *et al.*, 2007). These joint structures along with supporting connective tissues confer overall stability to the joint. A number of pathological changes are indicative of the onset and progression of OA.

### 1.1.2 Pathological Changes in Osteoarthritis

Due to the complex architecture of synovial joints, a number of joint tissues can be affected during OA, including the subchondral bone, synovial membrane and articular cartilage (Burr & Schaffler, 1997; Hill *et al.*, 2001; Buckland-Wright, 2004). Furthermore, a number of these pathological changes have also been found to further contribute to the progression of OA by inducing changes in additional tissues, leading to the high degree of complexity characterizing this disease.

A number of subchondral bone changes have been noted to occur during OA with the most predominant of these changes being the thickening of subchondral bone tissue (Amir *et al.*, 1992). Interestingly, the extent of bone thickening has been found

respect of to record tracement

## Figure 1.1 Synovial Joint

Within the structure of synovial joints each bone is covered with a layer of cartilage tissue at their articulating ends. Along with the synovial fluid, articular cartilage allows for near frictionless movement. Although a number of joint changes have been noted to occur during OA, extensive and premature degeneration of articular cartilage is a prominent feature of the disease state.

trans of site of the Parline second based & provide 10 17 second 10 second Articular Cartilage – Synovial Membrane Synovial Fluid Subchondral Bone contrast of tragmenty of higher sphere A MILLAR DIVERSION 1

5

to correlate with the degree of cartilage degeneration (Bobinac *et al.*, 2003). The subchondral bone has also been shown to undergo remodeling events during OA (Hayami *et al.*, 2004). Bone cysts, or lesions in the subchondral bone, become prevalent during OA (Rhaney & Lamb, 1955). Additionally, as OA progresses, bony projections, termed osteophytes, develop along the margins of affected joints (Jeffery, 1975; Amir *et al.*, 1992; Felson *et al.*, 2005). Taken together, these changes reveal an important role for bone tissue in OA pathology.

Inflammation of the synovial membrane, synovitis, is often observed during OA (Pelletier *et al.*, 2001). This inflammatory event is thought to contribute, at least in part, to the joint pain experienced during OA (Bonnet & Walsh, 2005). However, it remains unclear whether synovitis actually contributes to the progression of OA or if it arises merely as a secondary manifestation of the disease itself.

Initial pathological changes in joint articular cartilage involve cleavage of extracellular matrix (ECM) components by catabolic factors. Loss of these ECM components results in cartilage tissue that is mechanically unstable and susceptible to further disruption (Maroudas, 1976). As the disease progresses and the severity increases, vertical fissures become present in the tissue. Lastly, vascular invasion, an event usually confined to growth plate cartilage, results in calcification of the cartilage tissue (Lane *et al.*, 1977; Oegema *et al.*, 1997). As a result of these changes, the overall joint structure becomes compromised as the joint space narrows and bone on bone contact occurs.

#### **1.2 Articular cartilage**

Through its intricate composition, healthy articular cartilage functions in providing a smooth articulating surface between bones during the movement of joints. Articular cartilage is an avascular and aneural connective tissue composed of two distinct components, the cartilaginous cells (chondrocytes) and the ECM (Figure 1.2) (Aigner *et al.*, 2006). The chondrocytes, which have an extremely low proliferative rate, function to build and maintain the ECM. In healthy cartilage, there is a balance between matrix synthesis (anabolism) and matrix degradation (catabolism) (Eyre, 2004). However, during the disease state of OA, this equilibrium is shifted in favor of degradative events.

#### 1.2.1 Chondrocytes

Chondrocytes, the sole cell type of cartilage tissue, have an extremely low proliferative rate, yet remain metabolically active within the mature tissue (Archer & Francis-West, 2003). The chondrocytes themselves are responsible for producing and maintaining the cartilage ECM. Physiological remodeling of the cartilage ECM is accomplished through the balanced expression of factors involved in matrix synthesis and those involved in matrix degradation (Eyre, 2004). The chondrocytes are responsible for secreting ECM components and are involved in regulating the overall turnover of the ECM.

Chondrocytes undergo a number of changes during OA, including phenotypic changes and altered cell metabolism. It has been demonstrated that chondrocytes

Figure 1.2 Composition of Arthrophy Carringe Time

Annoche e alle que defines como acorectos estilitis sempore e contine el contre entración anovas (RCN). En obsocionarias no receptatoria de contine el municipar estructura de la delacara infrasecia municipar entre entre entre de entre en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este and de entre en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este and estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este and estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo carato estatuario como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo caratese estatuario) como este estatuaria en la caratese (COM brendo caratese estatuaria) como estatuaria esta

## Figure 1.2 Composition of Articular Cartilage Tissue

Articular cartilage has two distinct components, the cellular component (chondrocytes) and the extracellular matrix (ECM). The chondrocytes are responsible for secreting and maintaining the ECM through a delicate balance of matrix synthesis and matrix degeneration. The cartilage ECM has two major structural components, a collagen fibril network and large aggrecates of proteoglycan molecules. These structural components each confer a distinct property to cartilage tissue and allow it to function in response to joint loading.

1977; Sandy et el., 1984; Augner et el., 1992; eschnenous et el., 2004). Despue

al., 1997; Sande changes as they increases the ex 2009) Lastly, fibroblast-like du



#### 1.7.7 Extracellular Matrix

Cartilage tissue is composed of a large amount of hold and thus composition of this ECM is extremely important to the overall functional capabilit of this tissue. A large portion of the ECM is composed of a collingen fibril network primarily type II collagen (Aigner et al., 2006). Additional collegen species if

Sing MMP13 (Billinghur:

begin to proliferate in response to early cartilage degeneration in an attempt to repair the damaged tissue (Rothwell & Bentley, 1973). It has also been noted that many of these cells undergo apoptotic cell death during the early stages of OA, resulting in a loss of viable cells (Adams & Horton, 1998; Blanco *et al.*, 1998). Additionally, chondrocytes begin to increase the synthesis of ECM components (Lippiello *et al.*, 1977; Sandy *et al.*, 1984; Aigner *et al.*, 1992; Gouttenoire *et al.*, 2004). Despite this increase in matrix synthesis, cartilage degeneration continues to take place as there is also increased expression of degradative enzymes, including MMP13 (Billinghurst *et al.*, 1997; Sandell & Aigner, 2001). Chondrocytes are able to undergo phenotypic changes as they can become hypertrophic in instances of OA, an event which increases the expression of catabolic factors (Tchetina *et al.*, 2006; Fuerst *et al.*, 2009). Lastly, chondrocytes have been shown to dedifferentiate and become fibroblast-like during OA, although the contribution of this event to the progression of OA remains unclear (Aigner *et al.*, 1997; Sandell & Aigner, 2001).

#### 1.2.2 Extracellular Matrix

Cartilage tissue is composed of a large amount of ECM and thus the composition of this ECM is extremely important to the overall functional capabilities of this tissue. A large portion of the ECM is composed of a collagen fibril network, primarily type II collagen (Aigner *et al.*, 2006). Additional collagen species that contribute to the composition of the ECM include types IX and XI, which are distributed amongst type II collagen fibrils to provide further structural stability to the

matrix (Mendler *et al.*, 1989). Overall, the collagen network functions to provide tensile strength and stiffness to the cartilage.

Embedded within this extensive collagen fibril network are large aggregates of proteoglycan molecules. In cartilage, these aggregates consist primarily of aggrecan. The overall structure of aggrecan molecules consists of a core protein with numerous glycosaminoglycan side chains, including keratan sulfate and chondroitin sulfate (Hardingham & Fosang, 1992). These proteoglycan molecules are associated with hyaluronan molecules through link protein (Hardingham, 1979). Together these aggregates function in providing the tissue an extensive capability for the binding of water molecules and thus the ability to withstand extensive compressive forces (Bolton *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.2.3 Zones of Articular Cartilage

Articular cartilage is comprised of four distinct zones: the superficial zone, the intermediate zone, the deep zone and the zone of calcified cartilage (Figure 1.3) (Palfrey & Davies, 1966; Ulrich-Vinther *et al.*, 2003). These zones differ in chondrocyte cell shape, as well as the architecture of the ECM. Specifically, the ECM differs between each of these zones with respect to the orientation and abundance of collagen fibers. Together, these zones contribute to the overall functional properties of articular cartilage.

The superficial zone lies nearest the joint surface and has the highest collagen content of all the zones (Hyttinen *et al.*, 2001). Within this zone, the collagen fibers

Patrix 1.3 Zona of Articular Carillegt

Four district zones commone a construction or arrestance mail don non or relatified and an or an arrest of the construction of the construction of the rest of the or and the construction of the construction of the construction of the or and the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the construction of the order of the construction of the construction of the construction of the construction of

#### Figure 1.3 Zones of Articular Cartilage

Four distinct zones contribute to the overall structure of articular cartilage: the superficial zone, the intermediate zone, the deep zone and the zone of calcified cartilage. The distinction between each zone is established by differences in chondrocyte cell shape and collagen fiber orientation. In the superficial zone, both collagen fibers and the chondrocytes are oriented parallel to the joint surface. This zone accounts for the highest collagen content and its resident chondrocytes are flat in shape. In both the intermediate and deep zones, the collagen fibers are arranged vertically. The distinction between these two zones is made based on chondrocyte distribution. Chondrocytes in the intermediate zone are round in shape and are randomly distributed, while deep zone chondrocytes are found in vertical columns. Lastly, the zone of calcified cartilage provides attachment of cartilage tissue to the underlying subchondral bone.



are oriented parallel to the surface. The chondrocytes in this superficial zone are elongated in shape and oriented parallel to the surface (Palfrey & Davies, 1966; Wong *et al.*, 1996). In the intermediate and deep zones the collagen fibers are arranged vertically. However, chondrocyte cell shape differs between the intermediate and deep zones. Chondrocytes found within the intermediate zone are randomly distributed and are rounded in shape, whereas deep zone chondrocytes are arranged in vertical columns (Palfrey & Davies, 1966; Clark, 1990; Siczkowski & Watt, 1990). Lastly, the zone of calcified cartilage is located directly above the subchondral bone. This zone functions as a transition zone between the cartilage tissue and the underlying bone tissue.

#### **1.3 Matrix Turnover**

The composition of the ECM is controlled through an overall balance between anabolic and catabolic events (Eyre, 2004). The biomechanical properties of cartilage are extremely important and are determined by the ECM. Anabolic factors of cartilage tissue are involved in the synthesis of ECM molecules, while catabolic factors function in tissue remodeling. In healthy cartilage tissue, both anabolic and catabolic factors contribute to maintaining overall tissue integrity. During OA, this physiological matrix turnover is altered and a net loss of matrix molecules results as degradative events become more prevalent.

Loss of aggrecan in the matrix is indicative of early OA as its loss generally precedes loss of the collagen fibril network (Bluteau *et al.*, 2001; Pratta *et al.*, 2003).

Furthermore, it seems that cartilage degeneration is reversible following aggrecanasemediated cleavage events (Karsdal *et al.*, 2008). The aggrecan component of the ECM is more readily subjected to physiological turnover, whereas the collagen network is extremely stable as extensive fibril cross-linking occurs (Bank *et al.*, 1998). It is for this reason that very little turnover of the collagen network occurs as it requires extensive enzymatic activity (Billinghurst *et al.*, 1997; Cawston *et al.*, 1999). Loss of matrix collagen is indicative of a later and more extensive stage of OA (Little *et al.*, 2002). There are a number of proteolytic enzymes and cytokines that contribute to matrix degeneration, which will be discussed in detail below.

#### 1.3.1 Important Transcription Factors in Cartilage

The primary transcription factor important in the synthesis of the cartilage matrix is SRY (sex determining region Y) box 9 (Sox9) (Cucchiarini et al., 2007). Sox9 exerts its effect by activating many cartilage-specific genes (Takahashi *et al.*, 1998; Cucchiarini *et al.*, 2007). Sox9 has been found to promote the expression of both type II collagen and aggrecan (Bell *et al.*, 1997; Lefebvre *et al.*, 1997; Sekiya *et al.*, 2000; Han & Lefebvre, 2008). The expression of *Sox9* has been shown to decrease in instances of OA, yet this decrease does not seem to correlate directly with type II collagen expression (Aigner *et al.*, 2003). Fittingly, the expression of other Sox genes, mainly *Sox5* and *Sox6*, has also been found to decrease in chondrocytes during OA (Lee & Im, 2011). Sox5 and Sox6 are additional transcription factors that act with Sox9 to activate cartilage-specific genes (Ikeda *et al.*, 2004). These genes are

thought to act mainly by complementing the activity of Sox9, as they are unable to independently alter chondrocyte gene expression (Akiyama *et al.*, 2002). Together, Sox9, Sox5 and Sox6 provide excellent genetic targets for the development of potential treatments for OA.

#### 1.3.2 Anabolic Factors

Anabolic factors of cartilage health are involved in promoting the synthesis of ECM components and act to maintain overall cartilage health. A number of anabolic factors important in cartilage tissue have been described, including transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) (Sandell & Aigner, 2001). Many of these factors are secreted by both the synoviocytes and the articular chondrocytes.

The main anabolic activity of TGF $\beta$  is to stimulate matrix production by chondrocytes (Yaeger *et al.*, 1997; Blom *et al.*, 2007). More specifically, TGF $\beta$  is involved in inducing proteoglycan synthesis within the matrix (van Beuningen *et al.*, 1994). These findings each suggest that TGF $\beta$  may be a potential target in the repair of previously damaged cartilage tissue. Complicating the involvement of TGF $\beta$  in OA however, is evidence that it may additionally be involved in events leading to matrix degeneration and osteophyte formation (Scharstuhl *et al.*, 2002).

Synthesis of matrix components, both type II collagen and aggrecan, is stimulated by IGF-1 treatment *in vitro* (Yaeger *et al.*, 1997). IGF-1 treatment alone

does not offer a mechanism for repair potential as chondrocyte response to this anabolic factor is decreased during OA (Loeser *et al.*, 2000). However, articular chondrocytes treated with both IGF-1 and TGF $\beta$  displayed a synergistic response and increased ECM synthesis accordingly (Yaeger *et al.*, 1997). IGF-1 can further have a beneficial effect in cartilage tissue by acting to decrease catabolic activities (Trippel, 1995).

Lastly, a number of fibroblast growth factors have been identified as anabolic factors in cartilage tissue and are thought to provide therapeutic potential in OA. In particular, both FGF-2 and FGF-18 have been shown to promote the repair of degenerated cartilage tissue (Moore *et al.*, 2005; Kaul *et al.*, 2006). In addition, FGF-2 is able to suppress interleukin-1 (IL-1) activity and inhibit the production of ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5, thus protecting against early degenerative events (Sawaji *et al.*, 2008; Chia *et al.*, 2009). FGF-18 is thought to exert its anabolic activity in part by increasing chondrocyte proliferation (Shimoaka *et al.*, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2007; Ellman *et al.*, 2008).

To date, anabolic factors have not offered great promise in the treatment of OA as their roles in cartilage tissue are complex and remain to a large degree unknown. Many undesired events, such as production of catabolic factors, also arise with activity of these anabolic factors. A better fundamental understanding of both anabolic and catabolic factors of cartilage tissue is therefore needed.

17
### 1.3.3 Catabolic Factors

Pathological matrix degeneration involves the expression of a number of catabolic factors. These catabolic factors may be involved in directly cleaving ECM components or inducing catabolic events by altering gene expression. Furthermore, catabolic factors can be induced by the matrix fragments that result from matrix degeneration in a positive feedback loop (Homandberg, 2001). The main catabolic factors of interest include matrix metalloproteinases, aggrecanases (a disintergrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs, ADAMTS), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) and IL-1 (Sandell & Aigner, 2001).

#### 1.3.4 Matrix Metalloproteinases

Members of the matrix metalloproteinase family (MMPs) are involved in ECM remodeling during normal physiological events, such as development and tissue repair (Johansson *et al.*, 1997; Vu & Werb, 2000). However, these enzymes have also been found to contribute to pathological ECM changes, such as during arthritis (Billinghurst *et al.*, 1997; Takaishi *et al.*, 2008). Numerous MMPs have been implicated in OA including MMP1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9 and 13 (Yoshihara *et al.*, 2000; Vincenti & Brinckerhoff, 2002). However, biological inhibitors of MMPs exist as tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs), which act to regulate the activity of MMPs. TIMP3 is also involved in regulating the activity of certain ADAMTS enzymes (Visse & Nagase, 2003).

Extensive research has focused on the involvement of MMP13 in OA, as it preferentially cleaves type II collagen, the main collagen of articular cartilage (Knauper *et al.*, 1996; Billinghurst *et al.*, 1997). The importance of MMP13 in articular cartilage, and subsequently OA, was demonstrated extensively using MMP13 knockout mice (Little *et al.*, 2009). Knockout mice had significantly less cartilage erosion than controls following surgically induced OA, indicating that degeneration had been inhibited. The expression of MMP13 has also been shown to increase during aging in human articular chondrocytes (Forsyth *et al.*, 2005; Loeser, 2009). It is important to note that in addition to MMP13, MMP1 and MMP8 are also able to disrupt the collagen matrix by cleaving the triple helix of type II collagen (Billinghurst *et al.*, 1997).

#### 1.3.5 Aggrecanases in Osteoarthritis

Aggrecanases are major enzymatic contributors to the breakdown of the cartilage ECM as they act to cleave aggrecan. The main aggrecanases thought to be involved in cartilage degeneration during OA are ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 (Malfait *et al.*, 2002; Stanton *et al.*, 2005; Majumdar *et al.*, 2007). More recently, additional members from the ADAMTS family have been implicated in OA, including ADAMTS-1, -2, -7 and -12, although their specific roles remain unknown (Davidson *et al.*, 2006; Swingler *et al.*, 2009).

a state of the second second

Cartilage degeneration during the OA disease state in humans relies on the activity of both ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 (Malfait et al., 2002; Song et al., 2007).

In comparison, ADAMTS-5 has been identified as the major aggrecanase contributing to aggrecan breakdown in mouse models of the disease (Stanton et al., 2005). The role of aggrecanases in mouse models of OA has been established by the generation of knockout mice for each of these enzymes (Glasson et al., 2004; Glasson et al., 2005; Majumdar et al., 2007). Although the involvement of each of these factors in OA seems to differ between animal models of the disease and the human disease state, it is clear that each are important factors in aggrecan cleavage and subsequently the development of OA.

# 1.3.6 Additional Catabolic Factors

Degradative events during OA can also be attributed to a number of additional catabolic factors. Increasing evidence has implicated a number of inflammatory cytokines in the progression of OA. These cytokines can induce cartilage degeneration by increasing the synthesis of catabolic factors, decreasing the synthesis of inhibitory factors and by decreasing the synthesis of ECM components (Sandell & Aigner, 2001; Goldring, 2002).

The proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  are each increased during instances of OA (Melchiorri *et al.*, 1998; LeGrand *et al.*, 2001; Klooster & Bernier, 2005). IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  are produced by synoviocytes, as well as by the articular chondrocytes themselves (Fernandes *et al.*, 2002). Each of these cytokines is involved in cartilage degeneration by increasing the gene expression of MMPs, with IL-1 also increasing the expression of ADAMTS-4 *in vitro* (Mengshol *et al.*, 2000; Bau *et al.*,

2002; Goldring, 2002). Additionally, it is well established that IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  exert their catabolic effect by stimulating the production of reactive nitric oxide species, including nitric oxide, a known mediator of cartilage degeneration (Taskiran *et al.*, 1994; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1998; Melchiorri *et al.*, 1998; LeGrand *et al.*, 2001).

Another noteworthy, yet understudied, catabolic factor in cartilage tissue is high temperature requirement A 1 (HtrA-1). HtrA-1 became associated with OA when it was shown to be increased in articular cartilage following surgical induction of the disease (Hu *et al.*, 1998; Tsuchiya *et al.*, 2005). The exact role that HtrA-1 plays in the pathology of OA remains unclear, however, it has been suggested to be involved in the cleavage of matrix molecules, in particular aggrecan (Chamberland *et al.*, 2009). Additional evidence has suggested that it plays a role in altering chondrocyte metabolism during OA by cleaving a portion of the pericellular matrix (Polur *et al.*, 2010).

#### 1.3.7 Aggrecan Cleavage

As previously mentioned, aggrecan cleavage in the cartilage ECM is a complex event with a number of catabolic enzymes contributing to its breakdown. aggrecan cleavage can be brought about by MMPs, as well members of the ADAMTS family (Fosang *et al.*, 1996a). Many sites for enzymatic cleavage exist along the aggrecan core protein (Sandy *et al.*, 1991; Flannery *et al.*, 1992; Fosang *et al.*, 1996a). The specific structure of the aggrecan core protein is made up of three globular domains, G1 and G2 located at the N-terminus, and G3 located at the C-terminus

(Doege et al., 1991). The interglobular domain (IGD) is found between G1 and G2 and is the major site of protein cleavage. The catabolic enzymes, MMP13, ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 cleave at different sites within this IGD (Fosang *et al.*, 1996a; Sztrolovics *et al.*, 1997). For this reason, antibodies recognizing specific cleavage products of aggrecan have been developed (Hughes et al., 1995). These antibodies have been crucial in cartilage research as they are able to distinguish between MMP-generated and aggrecanase-generated neoepitopes (Janusz et al., 2004). Therefore, these antibodies help in elucidating the exact molecular mechanisms contributing to aggrecan breakdown during OA.

## 1.4 Molecular signaling in cartilage

It is becoming increasingly evident that signaling events in cartilage tissue play an important role in the onset and progression of OA. This disease, which has classically been thought of as a normal result of aging and joint loading, is now being discovered to be heavily reliant on extensive molecular signaling. As mentioned above, a number of growth factors, cytokines, proteases, as well as a number of additional factors have all been implicated in cartilage degeneration during OA (Goldring, 2000; Sandell & Aigner, 2001; Glasson *et al.*, 2005; Naito *et al.*, 2007; Takaishi *et al.*, 2008; Beier & Loeser, 2010).

The peroxisome proliferator-actived receptor (PPARδ) and AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathways are each activated in skeletal muscle during exercise; AMPK playing a role in cellular energy homeostasis promoting the shift to

oxidative metabolism during exercise and PPARô being mainly involved in skeletal muscle remodeling in response to exercise (Narkar *et al.*, 2008). More recently, each of these pathways has been found to play a role in chondrocyte biology.

### 1.4.1 Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) proteins are members of the nuclear receptor family and act as ligand-activated transcription factors, with lipids functioning as the activating ligands (Evans *et al.*, 2004; Fredenrich & Grimaldi, 2005). Three PPAR proteins have been identified: PPAR $\alpha$ , PPAR $\gamma$  and PPAR $\delta$  (Evans *et al.*, 2004). Prior to exerting their transcriptional control, PPAR proteins heterodimerize with the retinoid X receptor (RXR) allowing for subsequent DNA binding to occur (Figure 1.4) (Gearing *et al.*, 1993). PPAR $\delta$ , which is expressed in a number of tissue types, most notably adipose, liver and cardiac tissue, acts to regulate fatty acid metabolism in these tissues and others (Barish *et al.*, 2006; Seedorf & Aberle, 2007). Knowledge of the downstream targets by which PPAR $\delta$  is able to exert its role in fatty acid oxidation remains limited. However, very recently the matrix metalloproteinase, MMP9, was identified as a novel downstream target of PPAR $\delta$  in brain tissue (Chen *et al.*, 2011).

Mice null for the PPAR<sup>δ</sup> receptor have been mainly used to characterize changes in glucose homeostasis and lipid metabolism. Phenotypic changes in these mice include increased glycolysis and increased lipid production in the liver

23

Figure 1 # PPARS felectors at semiscriptional sygnlater.

Lastragence & second

tents and and the second se

stores if the work of a second second second remember on the second second

starts that has been and the set of the set

# Figure 1.4 PPAR $\delta$ function as transcriptional regulator.

PPAR $\delta$  is a nuclear receptor acting as a ligand-activated transcription factor. This receptor heterodimerizes with the retinoid X receptor before binding to DNA. It is this receptor complex that has the ability to influence transcriptional activities.

the second second



#### 1.1.7.1.147 annual of females from

(Lee *et al.*, 2006). However, these mice also display a decreased size when compared to controls, indicating a potential defect in endochondral ossification.

PPARγ and PPARα have been found to exert anti-inflammatory effects in articular cartilage, in part by modulating IL-1 activity (Bordji *et al.*, 2000; Francois *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, PPAR proteins have been detected in growth plate chondrocytes, suggesting that this family of proteins has a role in cartilage tissue (Shao *et al.*, 2005). Preliminary experiments utilizing chondrocytes in culture have provided evidence that activation of PPARs decreases production of ECM components by the anabolic factor, TGFβ. The synthesis of both proteoglycans and collagens by chondrocytes was inhibited by PPARδ activation (Poleni *et al.*, 2007; Poleni *et al.*, 2010). Although the role of this transcription factor in cartilage tissue is apparent, further experimentation needs to be conducted in order to fully elucidate the role it is having and to examine its role in OA pathology.

#### 1.4.2 AMP-activated protein kinase

The adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is a serinethreonine kinase present in almost all tissue types. AMPK is comprised of three subunits: the catalytic  $\alpha$ -subunit and the regulatory  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -subunits (Figure 1.5) (Carling, 2004). Additionally, a number of isoforms exist for each of the three subunits:  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 2 for the  $\alpha$ -subunit,  $\beta$ 1 and  $\beta$ 2 for the  $\beta$ -subunit, and  $\gamma$ 1,  $\gamma$ 2 and  $\gamma$ 3 for the  $\gamma$ -subunit (Viollet *et al.*, 2009). This protein kinase acts as a master regulator 

# Figure 1.5 AMPK regulation of cellular ATP.

The AMP-activated protein kinase is involved in regulating levels of cellular ATP. The structure of this enzyme is heterotrimeric with two regulatory subunits ( $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ ) and a catalytic subunit ( $\alpha$ ). The binding of AMP induces phosphorylation of the  $\alpha$ -subunit, which then increases events leading to ATP synthesis and inhibits events involving ATP consumption.

directions energy works in a AAR's contracted of a light source of the second source of the s

AMP

Image: Constraint of the state of

Anomal models have beened central machines in the previous section from the previous section from the basis of the section of the section and the basis from the basis from

of cellular energy homeostasis as AMPK acts to induce ATP synthesis when activated by increasing levels of ADP (Bohensky *et al.*, 2009; Steinberg & Kemp, 2009; Bohensky *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, in many cell types, AMPK has been shown to inhibit the activity of anabolic pathways and to activate less energy demanding catabolic pathways (Carling, 2004; Steinberg & Kemp, 2009; Bohensky *et al.*, 2010).

The process leading to AMPK activation is not completely understood, however it is thought to be accomplished in part by the binding of AMP, which results in phosphorylation of the catalytic subunit (Hardie *et al.*, 1998). AMPK activation induces a number of downstream events involved in the synthesis of cellular ATP in order to replenish its depleted supply. The primary action of AMPK is to induce pathways that result in an increased uptake of glucose, in part by the translocation of the GLUT4 receptor to the plasma membrane (Holmes *et al.*, 1999; Murgia *et al.*, 2009). Another major role of AMPK is to induce fatty acid oxidation, which aids in generating a substantial amount of ATP (Yamauchi *et al.*, 2002). AMPK further aids in enhancing cellular ATP stores by decreasing processes that involve ATP consumption. Fittingly, AMPK has been shown to inhibit the activity of the enzymes acetyl-CoA carboxylace and 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-CoA reductase which are involved in the energy demanding processes of fatty acid synthesis and cholesterol synthesis, respectively (Hardie *et al.*, 1998).

Animal models have become central in elucidating the physiological role that this kinase plays in many tissues. Most studies involving these knockout mouse models have focused on aspects of glucose metabolism (Viollet *et al.*, 2009). Wholebody knockouts of each the  $\alpha$ 1- and  $\alpha$ 2-subunits have been generated and reveal that these isoforms of the catalytic subunit have distinct physiological roles. Surprisingly, the AMPK $\alpha 1^{-4}$  mice displayed no changes in the aspects of glucose metabolism studied (Viollet *et al.*, 2003). The most noted features of the AMPK $\alpha 2^{-4}$  mice were glucose intolerance, both decreased insulin secretion and insulin resistance, and problems with glycogen synthesis in skeletal muscle (Viollet *et al.*, 2003).

Recently, evidence has suggested that AMPK plays a role in cartilage tissue. However, the exact role of AMPK in cartilage homeostasis remains uncertain, as evidence has suggested both a role in protecting against ECM degeneration and conversely also a potential role in cartilage catabolism. AMPK has been found to be involved in activating cell autophagy, a protective mechanism of chondrocytes that is lost during incidences of OA (Bohensky *et al.*, 2010; Carames *et al.*, 2010). Very recent evidence has also demonstrated that AMPK may be involved in decreasing matrix degeneration by the catabolic factors, IL-1 and TNF $\alpha$  (Terkeltaub *et al.*, 2011). However, activation of AMPK is increased during OA, which is thought to be in response to decreased ATP due to the presence of reactive oxygen species such as nitric oxide (NO) (Fermor *et al.*, 2010).

# **1.5 Objectives and Hypothesis**

Based on the limited amount of information on the role of these pathways in chondrocyte biology, we hypothesize that the AMPK and PPARδ pathways each control extracellular matrix turnover in cartilage by altering chondrocyte gene **expression.** To date minimal research has been conducted in order to determine the specific role that each of these pathways have in cartilage tissue.

# The specific objectives of this research project are to:

1) Determine effects of the AMPK and PPAR $\delta$  pathways on chondrocyte gene expression in cell culture.

2) Investigate effects of the AMPK and PPAR $\delta$  pathways on matrix homeostasis in articular cartilage using an *ex vivo* knee joint organ culture.

RADATION ALSO AND METHODIS

Distance in the second second

and over a second second second spectrum and a second decode experiments of the second sectors of second second second spectrum of the Amarel Carr and Version (Second second 100 Carr and Version (Newson Dataset)

#### 2.7 Providely Chemistrywyth Institution

2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Control in the second density of the second density of the transmission of the tran

#### 2.1 Animals

CD1 mice of various ages were purchased from Charles River Laboratories and were sacrificed for experimentation by carbon dioxide asphyxiation. The use of animals for experimentation was approved by Animal Care and Veterinary Services at the University of Western Ontario.

#### 2.2 Primary Chondrocyte Isolation

Embryos were dissected from timed-pregnant CD1 mice at embryonic day 15.5. Forelimb bones (humerus, radius, ulna) were dissected and placed in organ culture media overnight. Organ culture media consists of Modified Eagle's Medium (MEM, Invitrogen), Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA, Fisher), ascorbic acid, βglycerophosphate, L-glutamine and Pen-strep (Invitrogen). The following day, cells were isolated through digestion with Trypsin-EDTA (Invitrogen) for 15 minutes at 37°C, followed by digestion with Collagenase P (3mg/ml, Roche Applied Science) in Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium (DMEM, Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) for 2 hours at 37°C. Subsequently, cells were passed through a 40µm cell strainer to remove portions of mineralized bone that remain undigested. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes and the resulting pellet was re-suspended in cell culture media consisting of 55% F12, 35% DMEM, 10% FBS, 1.25% Pen-strep, 1.25 % L-glutamine (Invitrogen). Cells were counted, diluted and plated according to their experimental use.

# 2.3 Cell Culture

On the day prior to treatment, primary chondrocytes were placed in cell culture media supplemented with 1% FBS in order to assure that changes occurring could be attributed to the treatment. Cells were treated with either an AMPK agonist (AICAR, Sigma Scientific) or a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516, Alexis Biochemicals) diluted in the 1% FBS cell culture media. Agonists were diluted at varying concentrations (0.01  $\mu$ M, 0.1  $\mu$ M or 1  $\mu$ M) and cells were treated for 48 hours. Vehicle controls for experimentation were cells treated with dH<sub>2</sub>O or dimethyl suloxide (DMSO) for AICAR and GW1516, respectively.

# 2.4 Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction

Primary chondrocytes were plated at a density of 500,000 cells per well on 6well plates (Nunc) for RNA isolation. Following the treatment period, total RNA was isolated from cells using an RNeasy kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was quantified using a NanoDrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific) and diluted to 30ng/µl for analysis by Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR).

Real-Time PCR was performed using One-Step RT qPCR Master Mix kit and TaqMan Gene Expression Assays (Applied Biosystems) for Aggrecan (*Acan*), Type II Collagen (*Col2a1*), Sox9 (*Sox9*), MMP13 (*Mmp13*), ADAMTS-5 (*Adamts5*), ADAMTS-1 (*Adamts1*), ADAMTS-2 (*Adamts2*), and ADAMTS-7 (*Adamts7*) ADAMTS-12 (*Adamts12*), MMP2 (*Mmp2*), MMP3 (*Mmp3*), TIMP3 (*Timp3*), HtrA1 (*Htra1*) and Lipoprotein lipase (*Lp1*). Real-Time PCR analyses included 40 cycles on the ABI Prism 7900 HT sequence detector (PrismElmer Life Sciences). Gene expression was normalized to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*Gapdh*). Analyses for Real-Time PCR were performed in triplicate for three independent experimental trials and data is expressed relative to vehicle controls. Relative gene expression for each gene of interest was calculated using the delta-delta Ct method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

#### 2.5 MTT Assay

Cell numbers present in culture conditions were examined by MTT assay. A Cell Proliferation Kit I (Roche Applied Science) was used for this assay according to the manufacturer's instructions. Results from our lab have previously validated this assay as an indicator of chondrocyte cell number (Halawani *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2004). Primary chondrocytes were plated in triplicate at a density of 10,000 cells per well in a 96-well plate (Falcon) and cells were treated as described above. After 48 hours of treatment, cells were incubated with 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromid (MTT labeling reagent) for 4 hours at 37°C. Following the incubation period, cells were solubilized overnight and absorbance was read at 550-600 nm.

# 2.6 Palmitate Oxidation Assay

Primary chondrocytes were plated in duplicate at a density of 160,000 cells per well on 24-well plates (Nunc) for use in palmitate oxidation assay. Cells were

35

treated as described above. This assay was implemented in order to determine the extent of pathway activation following drug treatment in culture, as each pathway of interest is known to be involved in fatty acid oxidation (Yamauchi *et al.*, 2002; Wan *et al.*, 2010).

Cells were incubated for 1 hour with [9,10, <sup>3</sup>H] palmitate (PerkinElmer) at 37°C and the assay was performed as previously described (Huss *et al.*, 2004). The extent of radioactivity in each sample was measured by collecting media and phosphate buffered saline (PBS) wash of cells following the incubation period. Prior to measuring radioactivity, protein present in the collected sample was precipitated by incubation with trichloroacetic acid (TCA, Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes followed by centrifugation at 2200 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. Following the spin, the aqueous portion was collected, washed with hexane to extract any unreacted fatty acids (x4), and radioactivity was measured using a Beckman Coulter LS6500 Multipurpose Scintillation Counter.

The amount of radioactivity was normalized to the total protein extracted from each sample. Total protein was extracted from each sample by solubilizing cells with 1N NaOH (Sigma-Aldrich) for 30 minutes at 37°C, followed by neutralization with 1N HCl (Sigma-Aldrich). Protein extracted was quantified by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Smith *et al.*, 1985).

# 2.7 Explant Culture

Knee joints from 10-week-old male CD1 wild type mice were isolated and

treated in organ culture. Dissected knee joints were placed in organ culture media and allowed to recover overnight. Both left and right intact knee joints were treated the following day with the same compounds as in cell culture (AICAR and GW1516). Knee joints were treated every 2 days for a total of 6 days, with concentrations of 0.01  $\mu$ M, 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M or 10  $\mu$ M of AICAR and GW1516 diluted in organ culture media. Knee joints treated with dH<sub>2</sub>0 or DMSO served as vehicle controls for AICAR and GW1516, respectively. Following organ culture conditions, knee joints were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 24 hours. Samples were decalcified for 1 week in a 5% EDTA solution (pH 7.0), following which they were sent for processing and paraffin embedding at the Molecular Pathology Facility at the Robarts Research Institute (London, Ontario). Samples were subsequently sectioned for histological analyses.

# 2.8 Histological Stains

Paraffin sections were de-waxed in xylene and then re-hydrated for staining in a series of graded ethanol solutions (100%, 100%, 95%, 70%), with the final step being water. Sections were stained for proteoglycan content with 0.1% Safranin O and counterstained with 0.01% Fast Green by standard protocols (Wang *et al.*, 2004). Additional sections were stained with Picrosirius Red by standard protocols to visualize fibrillar collagen content (Puchtler *et al.*, 1973; Junqueira *et al.*, 1979).

# 2.9 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) was performed on organ culture sections using

primary antibodies against aggrecan neoepitopes and Type II Collagen neoepitopes (donated by John Mort, Shriners Hospital, Montreal, QC), as well as type II collagen (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) by standard protocols (Appleton *et al.*, 2007; Ulici *et al.*, 2008).

Sections were de-waxed and re-hydrated as above and then incubated in 3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 15 minutes at room temperature. Antigen retrieval was performed by incubating sections in 10 mM sodium citrate (pH 6.0) for 20 minutes at 95°C (neoepitopes) or 0.1% Triton X at room temperature for 12 minutes (type II collagen). Sections were then blocked in 5% goat serum in PBS (neoepitopes) or 5% donkey serum in PBS (type II collagen) for 1 hour at room temperature.

Primary antibodies were diluted in the blocking solution according to their optimized concentrations: 1:300 for aggrecan neoepitopes, 1:250 Type II Collagen neoepitopes, and 1:200 for Type II Collagen. Sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with the primary antibody. The following day, sections were washed in dH<sub>2</sub>O and incubated in horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (neoepitopes) or HRP-conjugated donkey anti-goat IgG secondary antibody (Type II Collagen) for 1 hour at room temperature (1:200 antibody:PBS). Sections were washed and visualized using diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate solution (Dako). All sections were counterstained with Weigert's Iron Hematoxylin. Representative images of knee joint sections were taken using a Leica DMRA2 Microscope (Leica Microsystems) and image analyses were performed using OpenLab 4.0.4.

# 2.10 Statistical Analysis

All data was collected from at least 3 independent experimental trials and is represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data was analyzed using GraphPad Prism version 4.0a for MacIntosh by a one-way ANOVA and Dunnett post-test (\*p<0.05). For histological stains and immunohistochemistry protocols, sections were analyzed in duplicate within each of the independent trials. but does not significantly effect expression of the lipid methodship proc by:

The PPANA subscription a well-constituted with or duty wild condition in a common or think types (Weiler al., 2010). Therefore, a pointering existing a subscription performed to order to dimension the same in pathony morphics is more characterize following a 43-blue biometric period. Analytic terminal triture larger member, which prove the to utilized over here, would be a sent of a subscription the provide A provide all memory to the company of the same of the subscription the provide A provide all memory is a subscription of the same of the subscription of provide A provide all memory is a subscription of the same of the subscription of provide A provide all memory is a subscription of the same of the subscription of

# **3.0 RESULTS**

3.1 Prisonry classificary/coeff a number is intribuiged by 12W1518 treatment

Constructive will be obtained and a second second by ACT and The second second

# 3.1 PPARδ activation increases fatty acid oxidation of primary chondrocytes, but does not significantly affect expression of the lipid metabolism gene *Lpl*

The PPAR $\delta$  pathway has a well-established role in fatty acid oxidation in a number of tissue types (Wan *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, a palmitate oxidation assay was performed in order to determine the extent of pathway activation in primary chondrocytes following a 48-hour treatment period. Analysis involved tritium-labeled palmitate, which gives rise to tritiated water being released as a result of fatty acid oxidation. The extent of radioactivity thus corresponds to the extent of oxidation that occurred. A significant increase in oxidation was observed for all concentrations of GW1516 treatment (0.01  $\mu$ M, 0.1  $\mu$ M, 1  $\mu$ M) (Figure 3.1A).

To follow up on this increase in fatty acid oxidation, the gene expression of *Lpl* was analyzed by Real-time PCR. *Lpl* is one of the main genes induced during lipid metabolism (Peterson *et al.*, 1990). Real-time PCR analysis revealed a trend towards increased expression of *Lpl* at GW1516 concentrations of 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M relative to DMSO control (Figure 3.1B). However, these increases in gene expression were not found to be statistically significant at either of these concentrations.

### 3.2 Primary chondrocyte cell number is unchanged by GW1516 treatment

Chondrocyte cell number in culture was analyzed by MTT assay. This assay has previously been shown to be an accurate measure of chondrocyte cell number (Halawani *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2004). Incubation with the MTT labeling reagent support distribution of the second second

# Figure 3.1 PPAR& agonist treatment increases fatty acid oxidation in culture.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice. Cells were treated in culture with a pharmacological agonist of PPAR $\delta$ , GW1516, for 48 hours. A serial dilution was performed with concentrations of 0.01  $\mu$ M, 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M and cells treated with DMSO served as control. (A) The extent of fatty acid oxidation induced by these treatments was measured using a palmitate oxidation assay (Huss *et al.*, 2004). Cells were incubated with [9,10, <sup>3</sup>H-palmitate for 1 hour and the extent of radioactivity was measured in each sample. Data was normalized to total protein in each sample. GW1516 treatment significantly increased fatty acid oxidation at all concentrations of treatment, (n=3). (B) Relative gene expression was measured using Real-time PCR. Relative *Lpl* gene expression was unchanged among treatments although a trend towards increased expression at higher concentrations exists, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).







and subsequent reading of sample absorbance revealed no significant changes in cell number among the GW1516 concentrations (Figure 3.2).

# 3.3 Sox9 gene expression is decreased by GW1516 treatment, while other anabolic factors are unaffected by treatment.

Sox9 is a key transcription factor in directing synthesis of cartilage ECM components (Takahashi *et al.*, 1998). Following 48 hours of GW1516 treatment, RNA was isolated from primary chondrocytes and relative gene expression was quantified by Real-time PCR. Relative gene expression of Sox9 was found to be significantly decreased at 1 $\mu$ M of GW1516 treatment (Figure 3.3A). The genes encoding the main structural components of the cartilage ECM, type II collagen and aggrecan, were next analyzed. The relative gene expression of Sot1516 (Figure 3.3B, C).

# 3.4 Gene expression of the matrix metalloproteinases *Mmp2* and *Mmp3* is increased following GW1516 treatment

Matrix metalloproteinases are involved in matrix cleavage during normal and pathological conditions. MMPs thus are crucial factors to be analyzed when considering cartilage homeostasis and overall health. In analyzing gene expression of a number of MMPs, it was determined that 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 significantly

Figure 3.5 PP AR6 against the state our cosh forming the million of a 15 PT 3.2, respire

# Figure 3.2 PPAR& agonist treatment does not alter cell number in culture.

Primary chondrocytes isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice were treated with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) for 48 hours at varying concentrations. Relative cell number in each condition was determined using an MTT reagent with absorbance being measured with a spectrophotometer at 600 nm. Cell number remained unchanged among the varying concentration of GW1516, (n=3 in triplicate)(\*p<0.05)









Figure 3.3 PPAR<sup>δ</sup> agonist treatment decreases *Sox9* gene expression but does not influence gene expression of ECM components.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated and treated with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) at varying concentrations for a 48-hour period. Relative gene expression was quantified using Real-time PCR. (A) Sox9 gene expression was significantly decreased at 1  $\mu$ M of GW1516. (B) The relative gene expression of Type II collagen was unchanged in cell culture when treated with GW1516. (C) Relative gene expression of Aggrecan was unchanged among the varying concentrations of GW1516 concentrations, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).

7.8






increases Mmp2 gene expression (Figure 3.4A). Additionally, the relative gene expression of Mmp3 is also significantly increased at GW1516 concentrations of 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.4B). Lastly, gene expression of Mmp13 is unchanged with agonist treatment (Figure 3.4C).

### 3.5 PPAR $\delta$ agonist treatment influences expression of ADAMTS genes

Many members of the ADAMTS family have been shown to cleave aggrecan in the ECM. Real-time PCR was implemented in order to analyze the expression of important ADAMTS members implicated in OA. Changes in the gene expression of a number of ADAMTS members were noted following GW1516 treatment. *Adamts1* gene expression did not show significant changes in response to agonist treatment at all concentrations (Figure 3.5A). A significant increase in *Adamts2* gene expression was observed at 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 (Figure 3.5B). Analysis revealed significantly increased expression of *Adamts5* at 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 treatment (Figure 3.5C). The relative gene expression of both *Adamts7* and *Adamts12* are increased at 0.1  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.6A, B).

#### 3.6 Htra1 gene expression is unaffected by GW1516 treatment

HtrA-1 has recently been implicated in the pathological cartilage ECM cleavage during OA (Hu et al., 1998; Tsuchiya et al., 2005). The relative gene







### Figure 3.4 PPARô agonist treatment increases MMP2 and MMP3 gene expression.

Primary chondrocytes were treated with a serial dilution of a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) and relative gene expression was quantified using Real-time PCR. (A) The relative gene expression of *Mmp2* was increased at 0.1µM of GW1516. (B) Gene expression *Mmp3* was significantly increased at GW1516 concentrations of 0.1 µM and 1 µM. (C) The relative gene expression of *Mmp13* was unaffected by agonist treatment, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).













### Figure 3.5 PPAR<sup>8</sup> agonist treatment influences Aggrecanse expression.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice and treated in culture with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516). Relative gene expression was quantified using Real-time PCR. (A) Gene expression of *Adamts1* was unchanged with treatment. (B) The relative gene expression of *Adamts2* was significantly increased at 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516. (C) *Adamts5* gene expression was significantly increased at both 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 treatment, (n=3) (\*p<0.05).











# Figure 3.6 PPAR<sup>8</sup> agonist treatment causes increased expression of *Adamts7* and *Adamts12*.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated and treated with GW1516, a pharmacological agonist of PPAR $\delta$ , at varying concentrations. Relative gene expression was determined using Real-time PCR. (A), (B) Both *Adamts7* and *Adamts12* displayed significantly increased gene expression at 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 treatment, (n=3) (\*p<0.05).





expression of *Htra1* was not significantly changed in primary chondrocyte cultures with all concentrations of GW1516 treatment (Figure 3.7A).

#### 3.7 Timp3 gene expression is increased following GW1516 treatment.

Tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are potent regulators of MMP activity in cartilage tissue. As indicated, they act by inhibiting the activity of a number of MMPs, with TIMP3 also inhibiting ADAMTS enzymes (Visse & Nagase, 2003). In order to fully analyze changes in MMPs, we also analyzed the gene expression of *Timp3* in primary chondrocytes. Results demonstrate that the relative gene expression of *Timp3* was significantly increased at 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516 (Figure 3.7B)

### 3.8 Knee joint explant culture demonstrates loss of proteoglycan staining in the matrix and no change in collagen staining following GW1516 treatment

Cartilage explant cultures allow for cartilage tissue to be treated with pharmacological agents in an authentic three-dimensional context but under controlled *ex vivo* conditions. The specific effect of drug treatment on cartilage tissue can be determined by this method. Cartilage tissue treated with GW1516 displayed a trend towards decreased proteoglycan staining in the cartilage ECM when stained with Safranin O/Fast Green (Figure 3.8A). However, Picrosirius Red staining of tissue sections revealed no apparent changes in collagen content (Figure 3.8B). In



### Figure 3.7 Treatment with a PPAR<sup>δ</sup> agonist increases *Timp3* gene expression.

Gene expression of primary chondrocytes treated with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) was measured using Real-time PCR. Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice. (A) Gene expression of *Htra1* was unaffected among the varying concentrations of treatment. (B) A significant increase in the gene expression of *Timp3* was observed at 0.1  $\mu$ M of GW1516, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).









Figure 3.8 Treatment with a PPARô agonist in organ culture shows a trend towards decreased proteoglycan content in articular cartilage extracellular matrix, while no affect on collagen content becomes apparent.

Adult wild-type knee joints were dissected from mice and treated with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) in organ culture for 1 week. Tissues were prepared for histology through standard protocols of decalcified paraffin sections. (A) Section stained with Safranin O/Fast Green for proteoglycan content displayed decreased matrix staining, most apparent at 10  $\mu$ M of GW1516, (n=3). (B) Sections were additionally stained with Picrosirius Red for collagen content, with no conclusive changes being apparent, (n=3).





addition, immunohistochemistry using antibodies specific for cleaved fragments of aggrecan demonstrated an increase in neoepitope staining in sections from explants that had been treated with GW1516 (Figure 3.9B), as compared to vehicle control (Figure 3.9A)

To further examine the collagen component of the ECM, IHC protocols were implemented using antibodies for both type II collagen and cleaved collagen fragments. These results revealed no apparent change in type II collagen staining in the matrix of slides from vehicle control (Figure 3.9C) as compared to GW1516 treated sections (Figure 3.9D). Additionally, no staining for type II collagen neoepitopes was observed in sections from vehicle controls (Figure 3.9E) or explants treated with GW1516 (Figure 3.9F). A positive control for this antibody was performed on slides from explants in which cartilage degeneration had been induced by retinoic acid (Appendix B) (Glasson *et al.*, 2004).

### 3.9 Fatty acid oxidation is unaffected by AMPK agonist treatment

The AMPK pathway is a known mediator of oxidative metabolism and thus primary chondrocytes were examined for extent of fatty acid oxidation following treatment with the AMPK agonist AICAR (Viollet *et al.*, 2009). The extent of fatty acid oxidation, as measured by the amount of radioactivity in the resulting sample, was unchanged for all treatments of AICAR used for experimentation (Figure 3.10A). However, the relative gene expression of the lipid metabolism gene *Lpl* was significantly increased with a treatment of 0.01  $\mu$ M of AICAR (Figure 3.10B)

12/13/16

### Figure 3.9 PPARδ agonist treatment increases Aggrecan neopitope staining, does not affect type II collagen staining in the ECM.

Knee joints from adult wild-type mice were dissected, treated in organ culture for 1 week with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist (GW1516) and prepared for histological analysis. Knee joints treated with DMSO served as controls. Sections were analyzed by standard immunohistochemistry protocols with an antibody for Aggrecan fragments, type II collagen and type II collagen fragments. An increase in staining for Aggrecan neoepitopes was apparent for sections treated with GW1516 (B) as compared to controls (A). Sections treated with GW1516 did not reveal any changes in type II collagen staining in the ECM (D) when compared to vehicle control (C). No staining for type II collagen cleavage fragments was apparent in sections treated with GW1516 (F) when compared to control sections (E), (n=3).



9ISIMD

DWSO

#### Figure 3.10 AMPK agonist treatment does not affect fatty acid oxidation in culture.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice. Cells were treated in culture with a pharmacological agonist of AMPK, AICAR, for 48 hours. A serial dilution was performed with concentrations of 0.01  $\mu$ M 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M. Cells treated with ddH<sub>2</sub>O served as control. (A) The extent of fatty acid oxidation induced by these treatments was measured using a palmitate oxidation assay. Cells were incubated with [9,10, <sup>3</sup>H-palmitate for 1 hour and the extent of radioactivity was measured in each sample. Data was normalized to total protein in each sample. AICAR treatment did not affect extent of oxidation in culture at any of the experimental concentrations, (n=3). (B) Relative gene expression was measured using Real-time PCR revealing that relative *Lpl* gene expression is increased at 0.01  $\mu$ M of AICAR, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).



#### 3.10 AICAR treatment significantly decreases chondrocyte cell number

In order to determine the overall effect of AICAR treatment on cultured chondrocytes, an MTT assay was performed. Cells were incubated with an MTT labeling reagent and measured for incorporation of this reagent by a spectrophotometric reading of absorbance. Results of this assay revealed changes in the number of cells present following AICAR treatment, with significant decreases in cell number being observed at treatment concentrations of 0.1  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.11).

## 3.11 AMPK agonist treatment does not change *Sox9* or aggrecan gene expression, but increases expression of type II collagen.

Aggrecan and type II collagen synthesis are important events in maintaining physiological turnover of the cartilage ECM (Eyre, 2004). In addition, Sox9 is the main transcription factor involved in regulating the synthesis of these ECM components (Takahashi *et al.*, 1998). Primary chondrocytes treated with a pharmacological agonist of AMPK (AICAR) revealed no change in the relative gene expression of *Sox9* (Figure 3.12A). However, a significant increase in type II collagen gene expression was apparent at all agonist concentrations (Figure 3.12B). No significant change was noted for aggrecan gene expression (Figure 3.12C).

### Figure 3.11 AMPK agonist treatment causes decreased cell number in culture.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice and treated with an AMPK agonist (AICAR) for 48 hours at varying concentrations. Relative cell number in each condition was determined using an MTT reagent with absorbance being measured with a spectrophotometer at 600 nm. AICAR treatments of 0.01  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M significantly decreased cell number relative to vehicle controls, (n=3 in triplicate)(\*p<0.05).











### Figure 3.12 AMPK agonist treatment increases type II collagen gene expression.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice following which they were treated with an AMPK agonist (AICAR) at varying concentrations for a 48-hour period. Relative gene expression was quantified using Realtime PCR. (A) Relative gene expression of *Sox9* was unchanged among the varying concentrations of AICAR. (B) Type II collagen was increased at each concentration of AICAR treatment. (C) Relative gene expression of Aggrecan was unchanged among varying concentrations of AICAR, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).









## 3.12 Matrix metalloproteinase gene expression is unchanged following AICAR treatment

Matrix metalloproteinases play an important role in matrix homeostasis, but have been shown to contribute to pathological ECM changes during OA. I investigated the gene expression of a number of MMPs following primary chondrocyte treatment with AICAR. The relative gene expression of all MMPs analyzed (*Mmp2*, *Mmp3* and *Mmp13*) remained unchanged with all concentrations of agonist treatment (Figure 3.13A, B, C).

### 3.13 Aggrecanase gene expression of primary chondrocytes is altered following AICAR treatment in culture

ADAMTS family members are involved in ECM turnover in cartilage tissue. A number of members have been implicated in pathological changes occurring during OA. As result, I sought to characterize changes in gene expression occurring in cultures of primary chondrocytes. Changes in gene expression of a number of Adamts genes were observed following AICAR treatment. The expression of Adamts1 is decreased with a concentration of 0.01  $\mu$ M of AICAR (Figure 3.14A). No significant change was observed in Adamts2 gene expression at any agonist concentration (Figure 3.14B). However, the expression of the main aggrecanase in cartilage tissue, Adamts5, is significantly increased in primary chondrocyte cell cultures at a concentration of 0.1  $\mu$ M of AICAR (Figure 3.14C). Consistent with the decrease in Adamts1, the relative gene expression of Adamts7 is also decreased at an AICAR







# Figure 3.13 AMPK agonist treatment does not influence matrix metalloproteinase gene expression.

Primary chondrocytes isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice were treated in culture with varying concentrations of an AMPK agonist (AICAR) for 48 hours. Real-time PCR was used to determine relative gene expression. (A), (B), (C) The gene expression of *Mmp2*, *Mmp3*, *Mmp13* was not unaffected by AICAR treatment, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).










### Figure 3.14 AICAR treatment influences Adamts1 and Adamts5 expression.

Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice and treated in culture with an AMPK agonist (AICAR). Relative gene expression was quantified using Real-time PCR. (A) *Adamts1* gene expression was significantly decreased at 0.01  $\mu$ M of AICAR. (B) The relative gene expression of *Adamts2* was unchanged among the various treatments of AICAR. (C) The gene expression of *Adamts5* was significantly increased at 0.1  $\mu$ M treatment of AICAR, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).







treatment concentration of 0.01  $\mu$ M (Figure 3.15A). Lastly, the expression of *Adamts12* is unchanged with the various concentrations of AICAR (Figure 3.15B).

#### 3.14 AICAR treatment does not affect *Htra1* gene expression

HTRA-1 was analyzed as an additional indicator of catabolic activity in the cartilage matrix. This factor has primarily been implicated in pathological cleavage of extracellular proteoglycans (Polur *et al.*, 2010). As analyzed by Real-time PCR, the expression of *Htra1* by primary chondrocytes treated with AICAR is unchanged among all experimental concentrations (Figure 3.16A).

### 3.15 Timp3 expression unaffected by AICAR treatment

As a regulator of MMP activity in the matrix, the relative expression of *Timp3* was analyzed. TIMPs are involved in inhibition of the enzymatic activity of MMP and ADAMTS and thus act as a regulator of cartilage turnover (Cawston *et al.*, 1999). In primary chondrocytes treated with AICAR, the relative gene expression of *Timp3* is unaffected by the varying concentrations of AICAR used for experimentation (Figure 3.16B).



## Figure 3.15 AMPK agonist treatment decreases relative gene expression of Adamts7.

Primary chondrocytes, isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice, and treated in culture with an AMPK agonist (AICAR). Relative gene expression was quantified using Real-time PCR. (A) *Adamts7* gene expression was significantly decreased at the 0.01  $\mu$ M treatment of AICAR. (B) The relative gene expression of *Adamts12* remained unchanged among the varying concentrations of AICAR, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).







# Figure 3.16 Treatment with an AMPK agonist does not affect *Htra1* or *Timp3* gene expression.

Gene expression of primary chondrocytes treated with an AMPK agonist (AICAR) was measured using Real-time PCR. Primary chondrocytes were isolated from the long bones of embryonic day 15 mice. (A) Gene expression of *Htra1* was unchanged among the various concentrations. (B) The gene expression of *Timp3* was unaffected by agonist treatment, (n=3)(\*p<0.05).





A 1911 A second framework for the second framework in the A 1911 A

80

3.16 Treatment of cartilage explant cultures with AICAR reveals decreased staining for proteoglycan, while no change noted in matrix collagen.

*Ex vivo* analysis of cartilage homeostasis was determined following AICAR treatment. Analysis of cartilage explants allows for an overall indication of cartilage health following drug treatment. Tissue sections stained with Safranin O/Fast Green for proteoglycan content demonstrated a trend toward decreased staining for this ECM component at the highest agonist concentration (Figure 3.17A). In order to examine each component of the cartilage ECM, a Picrosirius Red stain was also performed as an indicator of overall collagen content in the matrix. This stain revealed no conclusive trend in terms of matrix staining for collagen (Figure 3.17B).

To follow up with this apparent decrease in matrix staining for proteoglycans, an antibody specific for cleaved matrix aggrecan was used in an IHC protocol. An increase in staining for this aggrecan neoepitope antibody was observed in the ECM of sections from tissue treated with AICAR (Figure 3.18B) as compared to vehicle controls (Figure 3.18A). Matrix collagen content was analyzed further with an immunohistochemistry for type II collagen and type II collagen neoepitopes. Staining for matrix collagen using an antibody for type II collagen revealed no conclusive changes between vehicle controls (Figure 3.18C) and AICAR treated sections (Figure 3.18D). Lastly, matrix staining for type II collagen neoepitopes was performed by immunohistochemistry with an antibody specific to type II collagen fragment. No staining was apparent in the matrix for type II collagen neoepitopes in slides from vehicle control (Figure 3.18E) or AICAR treated sections (Figure 3.18F).

Figure 3.17 Treatment with an AMPIs opposit in degire attants there a result to be and the degree details for each the restriction of the sector of the sect

investigate process sugging all built produces? (The lastice restrict) (D) (D-1) in-

A CONTRACTOR OF STREET, NAME AND ADDRESS OF

Figure 3.17 Treatment with an AMPK agonist in organ culture shows a trend towards decreased proteoglycan content in articular cartilage extracellular matrix, while matrix collagen seems to be unaffected.

Adult wild-type knee joints were dissected from mice and treated with an AMPK agonist (AICAR) in organ culture for 1 week. Tissues were prepared for histology through standard protocols of decalcified paraffin sections. (A) Sections stained with Safranin O/Fast Green for proteoglycan content display decreased staining at 10  $\mu$ M compared to control, (n=3). (B) Sections stained with Picrosirius Red for collagen content displayed no apparent change in staining, (n=3).



## Figure 3.18 AMPK agonist treatment increases Aggrecan neoepitope staning, does not affect type II collagen staining in the ECM.

Knee joints from adult wild-type mice were dissected and treated in organ culture for 1 week with an AMPK agonist (AICAR) and prepared for histological analysis. Sections treated with dH<sub>2</sub>O served as vehicle controls. Sections were analyzed by standard immunohistochemistry protocols with antibodies for Aggrecan fragments, type II collagen and type II collagen fragments. An increasing in staining for Aggrecan fragments was apparent in sections treated with AICAR (B) as compared to vehicle controls (A). No apparent change in type II collagen staining was observed in comparing AICAR treated sections (D) to controls (C). No staining for cleaved collagen fragments was apparent in sections treated with AICAR (F) as compared to vehicle controls (E), (n=3).



AICAR

O<sup>z</sup>HP

A CONTRACTOR OF A DESCRIPTION

## 4.0 DISCUSSION

### 4.1 Summary of Results

Extensive and premature breakdown of articular cartilage is a major characteristic of the onset and progression of OA (Aigner *et al.*, 2006). As the prevalence of OA continues to increase, it is becoming necessary to elucidate the factors involved in the disease pathology. As such, current research in this field is focused on identifying novel therapeutic targets in cartilage tissue. It is becoming increasingly evident that molecular signaling in cartilage cells plays a significant role in OA.

Though PPARð and AMPK have both been implicated in cartilage biology, their specific roles have yet to be fully established (Shao *et al.*, 2005; Poleni *et al.*, 2007; Bohensky *et al.*, 2010; Poleni *et al.*, 2010; Terkeltaub *et al.*, 2011). Due to the limited knowledge of these pathways in cartilage biology, this study sought to clarify the role that each of these pathways play. It was hypothesized that the AMPK and PPARð pathways each control extracellular matrix turnover in cartilage by altering chondrocyte gene expression. Experiments combined *in vitro* and *ex vivo* approaches to elucidate the roles of these pathways in cartilage tissue. Our first objective was to characterize distinct changes occurring in primary chondrocyte gene expression as a result of both PPARð and AMPK activation by pharmacological agonists.

Primary chondrocytes treated with the PPARð agonist GW1516 demonstrated a significant increase in the extent of fatty acid oxidation independent of agonist concentration, indicating that changes in metabolism had been fully induced at our lowest treatment concentration. Fittingly, a trend towards increased gene expression of the lipid metabolism gene *Lpl* was demonstrated with GW1516 treatment. This increase, however, was not found to be statistically significant, indicating that within the confines of this study, initial changes in fatty acid oxidation were not paralleled by changes in this lipid metabolism gene. It is reasonable to speculate that changes in gene expression arise at a later point than the initial increase in fatty acid oxidation.

Analysis of chondrocyte gene expression following GW1516 treatment demonstrated firstly a decrease in the expression of *Sox9*. Based on the role of Sox9 in inducing synthesis of cartilage ECM components (Takahashi *et al.*, 1998), I next analyzed the relative gene expression of type II collagen and aggrecan. Interestingly, similar decreases in the expression of these matrix components were not found. It is possible that expression of type II collagen and aggrecan are altered at a later time point compared to Sox9. Additionally, matrix homeostasis is controlled by a number of factors, suggesting that type II collagen and aggrecan gene expression may be controlled by other transcription factors independent of Sox9.

Changes in gene expression of the matrix metalloproteinases *Mmp2* and *Mmp3* were noted with GW1516 treatment, while no change in *Mmp13* gene expression was observed. In analyzing the gene expression of enzymes with the potential to cleave aggrecan in the matrix, significant increases in *Adamts2*, *Adamts5*, *Adamts7* and *Adamts12* were observed. These results suggest that PPARd activation induces enzymes with the ability to cleave both the collagen and aggrecan component of the cartilage ECM, as both MMPs and ADAMTS enzymes were increased by GW1516 treatment. Surprisingly, the expression of *Timp3* was also found to be

increased with GW1516 treatment, indicating the potential for compensatory inhibition of both MMP and ADAMTS activity (Visse & Nagase, 2003).

Changes in cartilage matrix homeostasis as a result of agonist treatment were also examined. The most notable change in matrix composition following GW1516 treatment was the reduction of proteoglycan staining in the ECM. Staining for ECM collagen revealed no conclusive trend in terms of its contribution to matrix composition. Fittingly, an increase in staining for cleavage fragments of aggrecan was also observed. GW1516 is a selective PPARδ agonist and thus all observed changes can be attributed to PPARδ activity (Sznaidman *et al.*, 2003).

The fact that only the aggrecan portion of the ECM seems to be affected by treatment is not unexpected as aggrecan loss precedes collagen loss during OA (Bluteau *et al.*, 2001; Pratta *et al.*, 2003). In this regard, the collagen fibrils within the ECM matrix are more resistant to proteolytic cleavage (Lippiello *et al.*, 1977). Although MMPs are less efficient at cleaving Aggrecan than ADAMTS enzymes (mainly ADAMTS-5), they have been noted to be important contributors to pathological aggrecan cleavage during OA (Fosang *et al.*, 1996b; Durigova *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, results of this study revealed an increase in expression of catabolic factors as well as *Timp3*. Given that Timp3 functions to inhibit both MMPs and ADAMTS enzymes, its presence may decrease proteolytic activity within the ECM to a level capable of degrading proteoglycans without affecting the stable collagen matrix. This may explain why changes in proteoglycan but not matrix collagens were observed in this study following GW1516 and AICAR treatments.

In examining the effect of AICAR treatment on primary chondrocytes, no change in the extent of fatty acid oxidation was observed following treatment. As discussed above, molecular events induced by AMPK activation are aimed at replenishing depleted levels of cellular ATP (Hardie & Pan, 2002). This increase in ATP is accomplished in part by inducing fatty acid oxidation, as well as by increasing glucose metabolism (Hardie & Pan, 2002). The fact that the confines of this study did not reveal an increase in fatty acid oxidation following AICAR treatment, yet still resulted in a number of changes in terms of chondrocyte gene expression and ECM homeostasis, could be explained in part by this additional role that AMPK plays in glucose metabolism (Holmes et al., 1999). It is possible that treatment conditions did not cause a detectable change in fatty acid oxidation, while still inducing other downstream events of AMPK activation. Additionally, AICAR functions pharmacologically as an AMP mimetic and as such we cannot rule out changes occurring as a result of other physiological processes that AMP is involved in (Mu et al., 2003). However, AICAR provides the most specific method available for inducing AMPK activation, as it does not involve altering levels of cellular ATP or AMP (Corton et al., 1995). Since AICAR is altering how AMPK senses cellular ATP levels, it is possible that treatment concentrations used were not high enough to induce this change and thus further experimentation is needed in order to determine optimal dosing of AICAR. The specific effects induced in cartilage tissue as a result of AICAR treatment need to be determined, since previous experimentation with this drug has predominantly been performed in other tissue types, such as liver and muscle tissue (Hardie & Sakamoto, 2006; Viana et al., 2006).

Further analysis by MTT assay revealed that primary chondrocytes treated with AICAR showed a significant reduction in cell number, indicating that cellular proliferation had been inhibited at higher drug concentrations. The ability of AICAR to decrease cellular proliferation has been noted for other cell types and is thought to result from changes in the cell cycle in these instances (Menze *et al.*, 2005; Guan *et al.*, 2007). Although mature articular chondrocytes display relative low levels of proliferation, any alteration in this capacity could have the potential to induce pathological changes in cartilage tissue.

Examining gene expression following AICAR treatment revealed an increase in type II collagen gene expression, while *Sox9* and aggrecan gene expression are unchanged. It is evident here that type II collagen gene expression is being induced by events independent of Sox9 transcript levels. Additionally, the gene expression of all MMPs analyzed in this study was unchanged. Interestingly, changes were observed in a number of ADAMTS enzymes, although specific to each enzyme itself. The gene expression of *Adamts1* and *Adamts2* was decreased, while expression of *Adamts5* was significantly increased upon AICAR treatment.

Changes in matrix homeostasis following AICAR treatment are similar to those observed with GW1516 treatment. A decrease in proteoglycan staining was apparent with a concomitant increase in staining for aggrecan fragments. No apparent trend in terms of collagen content was observed, which is fitting in terms of the order that loss of ECM components presents during normal OA progression (Bluteau *et al.*, 2001; Pratta *et al.*, 2003). However, it seems that in the context of AICAR treatment, ADAMTS-5 is the sole factor examined that was upregulated in cell culture, that also has the potential to induce proteoglycan loss in the matrix, should its increased gene expression be found to result in increased enzymatic activity. All other catabolic factors examined were either decreased or remained unchanged with treatment.

# 4.2 Contributions to current knowledge of the roles of PPAR<sup>§</sup> and AMPK in the regulation of chondrocyte gene expression and articular cartilage homeostasis

Elucidating the mechanisms contributing to cartilage degeneration provides important evidence necessary for the development of therapeutic approaches for OA. Results of this study provide the first conclusive evidence for a role for PPARô in cartilage breakdown. However, examining AMPK revealed a more complex relationship in terms of its role in cartilage tissue. Although results did provide substantial evidence suggesting an important role for AMPK in cartilage tissue, further experimentation is needed to determine optimal treatment concentration and to determine the events by which AMPK exerts its effects in cartilage tissue. Very little information has been provided to clarify the specific effects being induced by the PPARô and AMPK pathways in cartilage tissue. This study was thus aimed at characterizing changes in chondrocyte gene expression occurring *in vitro*, as well as changes in the homeostasis of the cartilage ECM in an *ex vivo* model.

Here we have demonstrated for the first time that pharmacological treatment with a PPAR $\delta$  agonist results in increased fatty acid oxidation by chondrocytes, suggesting that fatty acids act as a substantial energy source for chondrocytes. Fittingly, previous studies in our lab have demonstrated a link between other nuclear receptors and lipid metabolism in chondrocytes (Woods *et al.*, 2009; Stanton *et al.*, 2010). Similar to the current study, these studies cultured growth plate chondrocytes, but focused on chondrocyte differentiation. It would be interesting to fully examine the role of lipid metabolism in chondrocytes during OA with cell culture protocols being implemented using articular chondrocytes. Additionally, results here demonstrate hitherto unrecognized changes in gene expression by PPAR $\delta$  activation involving a number of catabolic factors of cartilage tissue. It is possible that changes in matrix composition observed in *ex vivo* organ cultures following GW1516 treatment could also be attributed to a decrease in the expression of *Sox9* and resultant decrease in synthesis in matrix components. Organ culture protocols are implemented for a longer period of time as compared to cell culture conditions and thus resultant changes in gene expression following a decrease in *Sox9* could be established in this context.

Although AICAR treatment did not result in the change in fatty acid oxidation that was initially suspected, important evidence for its role in cartilage biology has nonetheless been demonstrated. Future experiments should be aimed at determining optimal dosing of AICAR, as well as elucidating the exact events brought about by pathway activation in chondrocytes and thus demonstrating any cartilage-specific events that occur.

Overall, results of this study provide further evidence that the multitude of changes observed during the progression of OA can be accomplished by different molecular mechanisms independent of each other. Our results reveal decreased staining for proteoglycan in the cartilage ECM following both independent drug treatments, while collagen staining is unaffected. This loss of proteoglycan is indicative of an earlier stage of matrix degeneration, thus suggesting that both PPAR $\delta$  and AMPK are involved in early OA. This study has provided the evidence necessary to drive further experimentation aimed at both PPAR $\delta$  and AMPK in cartilage tissue.

### 4.3 Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

This study has provided substantial evidence for a role for both PPARð and AMPK in cartilage tissue, which provides the basis for further studies using more physiological systems as the ones used here for our initial experiments. Primary chondrocyte cell culture was implemented in order to characterize gene expression of a number of cartilage markers. Although this model provides a context in which the action of a single pharmacological agent can be studied, it does not account for all factors that would be present *in vivo* (ie. signals provided from the synoviocytes, mechanical loading, three-dimensional tissue architecture etc). The explant cultures overcome some, but not all of these limitations. Our *in vitro* and *ex vivo* studies provide a strong impetus to study the role of these pathways using *in vivo* models of OA, using either genetic or pharmacological approaches.

In order to validate the changes in mRNA expression observed, Western blot analysis should be implemented in order to conclude that changes in transcript levels are translating into parallel changes at the protein level. An additional method by which matrix breakdown products can be quantified is enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with neoepitope antibodies as used in our IHC experiments. Additionally, assays in which enzyme activity is measured (e.g. zymography) would provide important information as to the exact enzymatic contributors to the cleavage of ECM components observed within this study. In terms of AICAR treatment, it is necessary to determine the optimal dose at which fatty acid oxidation is induced. Additionally, a time course in primary chondrocytes for both GW1516 and AICAR treatment would be useful in determining when induction of fatty acid oxidation is able to cause other changes related to lipid metabolism, such as changes in lipid metabolism genes.

The *ex vivo* organ culture model implemented in this study was useful in determining effects of agonist treatment on cartilage tissue. This model allows for cartilage tissue to be treated in a three-dimensional context representative of the *in vivo* joint structure. However, although this model allows for the specific effect of drug treatment to be determined, it does not account for all factors that contribute to changes in cartilage tissue during OA, for example biomechanical loading. Additionally, the histological stains implemented in this study have provided useful information concerning the overall structural composition of cartilage tissue. Due to the apparent decrease in matrix proteoglycan staining and the increase in aggrecan neoepitope staining with both GW1516 and AICAR treatment, it would be reasonable to implement Western blot analysis in order to examine matrix breakdown products released into culture media, thus providing a semi-quantitative measure of the matrix changes observed.

A limitation of the present study exists as the neoepitope antibody used in our experimentation recognizes aggrecan fragments generated by MMP cleavage. Our

results from cell culture suggest a potential for both MMP and ADAMTS cleavage events. In order to fully establish the mechanism by which aggrecan is being cleaved, future experiments need to include IHC with a primary antibody recognizing ADAMTS cleavage fragments. These antibodies were not available to us during this study, but through a collaboration with Dr. A Fosang (Melbourne) we will be provided with them for future experiments.

It is important to note that although the studies outlined here provide novel insight into the roles of both PPAR8 and AMPK in cartilage tissue, results are representative of *in vitro* and *ex vivo* conditions. As such, *in vivo* validation is needed for the role of these pathways to be effectively established. Established animal models of OA exist and specific surgical models are currently used in our lab. Destabilization of the medial meniscus (DMM surgery) is a well-established surgical model of OA (Glasson et al., 2007) and has been extensively implemented as an experimental protocol in our lab. In terms of investigating the role of PPAR $\delta$  in OA, PPAR $\delta^{fl/fl}$ mice have been generated and would provide the ideal mouse model for this study. A cartilage-specific knockout for PPAR<sup>δ</sup> could be generated with cre-recombinase mice already available in our lab (Wang et al., 2007; Solomon et al., 2009; Gillespie et al., 2011). Additionally, to study the role of AMPK in an *in vivo* model, DMM surgery could be used in whole body knockouts for both the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  catalytic subunits. Despite the fact that this mouse model is not as ideal as a cartilage-specific knockout, it would nevertheless provide useful information concerning the role of AMPK in OA.

The current study implemented a 'gain of function' approach to analyze the role of PPAR $\delta$  and AMPK. Gain of function studies are crucial in providing evidence about the events resulting from activation of a specific pathway, with the caveat that we don't know to what degree such activation occurs in a specific disease such as OA. The genetic models suggested above would provide the complementary 'loss of function' approach to examining each of these pathways. Loss of function studies allow to us to answer more specific questions about the activities a specific gene is involved in. In order to fully establish a role of these pathways in OA and to assess their suitability as therapeutic targets in cartilage tissue, loss of function studies must first be implemented.

Contrary to the findings of the current study, Terkeltaub et al demonstrated that following AICAR treatment, matrix degradation induced by IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  was suppressed (Terkeltaub *et al.*, 2011). The difference in results between the Terkeltaub study and the current study are surprising, although a number of factors could account for these differences. IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  represent only two of the multitude of catabolic factors in cartilage tissue that exist. It is possible that in the context of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$  induction of matrix degeneration, AMPK functions to decrease catabolic activities, while in the context of our study, AMPK promotes ECM degeneration. Additionally, a noteworthy difference is the use of human articular chondrocytes and human cartilage samples, as compared to the mouse models used in the current study. Nevertheless, the differences between the two studies are surprising and further experimentation is required to resolve these discrepancies.

### 4.4 Significance

Currently, no suitable treatment options are available for OA, as the disease pathology remains largely unknown. This study sought to characterize the role that the PPARô and AMPK pathways play in cartilage tissue and subsequently aid in revealing a potential role in OA pathology. Ultimately, the studies outlined here provide evidence for a role of both pathways in early changes in cartilage tissue indicative of OA. These pathways thus provide novel targets for prevention of OA given that cartilage tissue has been shown to possess the potential for repair following aggrecanase-mediated cleavage, a feature that is lost following later MMP-mediated cleavage events (Bluteau *et al.*, 2001; Karsdal *et al.*, 2008). Although the therapeutic potential of these pathways has yet to be completely determined, the targeting of these pathways for potential therapeutic approaches to OA is not an unreasonable goal. However, in order for this to occur, additional insights into the mechanisms by which PPARô and AMPK exert their effects in chondrocytes and cartilage tissue, especially *in vivo*, are required. And a second sec

- Alternational Contractions of the Contraction of th
- And and a second s
- Arrest 1, Sector A. Octor i Phi & Deach in (2016). Concerning and there are 26, 11-
- The second second

## 5.0 REFERENCES

- A second sty of periods, and and the sharper of the state of the second se
- Applement of the second second
- the second second
- The second s

- Adams CS & Horton WE, Jr. (1998). Chondrocyte apoptosis increases with age in the articular cartilage of adult animals. *Anat Rec* 250, 418-425.
- Aigner T, Gebhard PM, Schmid E, Bau B, Harley V & Poschl E. (2003). SOX9 expression does not correlate with type II collagen expression in adult articular chondrocytes. *Matrix Biol* **22**, 363-372.
- Aigner T, Gluckert K & von der Mark K. (1997). Activation of fibrillar collagen synthesis and phenotypic modulation of chondrocytes in early human osteoarthritic cartilage lesions. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 5, 183-189.
- Aigner T, Sachse A, Gebhard PM & Roach HI. (2006). Osteoarthritis: pathobiologytargets and ways for therapeutic intervention. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 58, 128-149.
- Aigner T, Stoss H, Weseloh G, Zeiler G & von der Mark K. (1992). Activation of collagen type II expression in osteoarthritic and rheumatoid cartilage. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 62, 337-345.
- Akiyama H, Chaboissier MC, Martin JF, Schedl A & de Crombrugghe B. (2002). The transcription factor Sox9 has essential roles in successive steps of the chondrocyte differentiation pathway and is required for expression of Sox5 and Sox6. *Genes Dev* 16, 2813-2828.
- Amir G, Pirie CJ, Rashad S & Revell PA. (1992). Remodelling of subchondral bone in osteoarthritis: a histomorphometric study. *J Clin Pathol* **45**, 990-992.
- Appleton CT, McErlain DD, Pitelka V, Schwartz N, Bernier SM, Henry JL, Holdsworth DW & Beier F. (2007). Forced mobilization accelerates pathogenesis: characterization of a preclinical surgical model of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* 9, R13.
- Archer CW & Francis-West P. (2003). The chondrocyte. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 35, 401-404.
- Bank RA, Bayliss MT, Lafeber FP, Maroudas A & Tekoppele JM. (1998). Ageing and zonal variation in post-translational modification of collagen in normal human articular cartilage. The age-related increase in non-enzymatic glycation affects biomechanical properties of cartilage. *Biochem J* 330 (Pt 1), 345-351.
- Barish GD, Narkar VA & Evans RM. (2006). PPAR delta: a dagger in the heart of the metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Invest* **116**, 590-597.
- Bau B, Gebhard PM, Haag J, Knorr T, Bartnik E & Aigner T. (2002). Relative messenger RNA expression profiling of collagenases and aggrecanases in

human articular chondrocytes in vivo and in vitro. Arthritis Rheum 46, 2648-2657.

- Beier F & Loeser RF. (2010). Biology and pathology of Rho GTPase, PI-3 kinase-Akt, and MAP kinase signaling pathways in chondrocytes. *J Cell Biochem* **110**, 573-580.
- Bell DM, Leung KK, Wheatley SC, Ng LJ, Zhou S, Ling KW, Sham MH, Koopman P, Tam PP & Cheah KS. (1997). SOX9 directly regulates the type-II collagen gene. Nat Genet 16, 174-178.
- Billinghurst RC, Dahlberg L, Ionescu M, Reiner A, Bourne R, Rorabeck C, Mitchell P, Hambor J, Diekmann O, Tschesche H, Chen J, Van Wart H & Poole AR. (1997). Enhanced cleavage of type II collagen by collagenases in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 99, 1534-1545.
- Blanco FJ, Guitian R, Vazquez-Martul E, de Toro FJ & Galdo F. (1998). Osteoarthritis chondrocytes die by apoptosis. A possible pathway for osteoarthritis pathology. *Arthritis Rheum* **41**, 284-289.
- Blom AB, van der Kraan PM & van den Berg WB. (2007). Cytokine targeting in osteoarthritis. Curr Drug Targets 8, 283-292.
- Bluteau G, Conrozier T, Mathieu P, Vignon E, Herbage D & Mallein-Gerin F. (2001). Matrix metalloproteinase-1, -3, -13 and aggrecanase-1 and -2 are differentially expressed in experimental osteoarthritis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1526**, 147-158.
- Bobinac D, Spanjol J, Zoricic S & Maric I. (2003). Changes in articular cartilage and subchondral bone histomorphometry in osteoarthritic knee joints in humans. *Bone* **32**, 284-290.
- Bohensky J, Leshinsky S, Srinivas V & Shapiro IM. (2010). Chondrocyte autophagy is stimulated by HIF-1 dependent AMPK activation and mTOR suppression. *Pediatr Nephrol* **25**, 633-642.
- Bohensky J, Terkhorn SP, Freeman TA, Adams CS, Garcia JA, Shapiro IM & Srinivas V. (2009). Regulation of autophagy in human and murine cartilage: hypoxia-inducible factor 2 suppresses chondrocyte autophagy. *Arthritis Rheum* 60, 1406-1415.
- Bolton MC, Dudhia J & Bayliss MT. (1999). Age-related changes in the synthesis of link protein and aggrecan in human articular cartilage: implications for aggregate stability. *Biochem J* 337 (Pt 1), 77-82.

- Bonnet CS & Walsh DA. (2005). Osteoarthritis, angiogenesis and inflammation. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 44, 7-16.
- Bordji K, Grillasca JP, Gouze JN, Magdalou J, Schohn H, Keller JM, Bianchi A, Dauca M, Netter P & Terlain B. (2000). Evidence for the presence of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) alpha and gamma and retinoid Z receptor in cartilage. PPARgamma activation modulates the effects of interleukin-1beta on rat chondrocytes. *J Biol Chem* **275**, 12243-12250.
- Buckland-Wright C. (2004). Subchondral bone changes in hand and knee osteoarthritis detected by radiography. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12 Suppl A, S10-19.
- Burr DB & Schaffler MB. (1997). The involvement of subchondral mineralized tissues in osteoarthrosis: quantitative microscopic evidence. *Microsc Res Tech* 37, 343-357.
- Carames B, Taniguchi N, Otsuki S, Blanco FJ & Lotz M. (2010). Autophagy is a protective mechanism in normal cartilage, and its aging-related loss is linked with cell death and osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 62, 791-801.
- Carling D. (2004). The AMP-activated protein kinase cascade--a unifying system for energy control. *Trends Biochem Sci* **29**, 18-24.
- Cawston T, Billington C, Cleaver C, Elliott S, Hui W, Koshy P, Shingleton B & Rowan A. (1999). The regulation of MMPs and TIMPs in cartilage turnover. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 878, 120-129.
- Chamberland A, Wang E, Jones AR, Collins-Racie LA, LaVallie ER, Huang Y, Liu L, Morris EA, Flannery CR & Yang Z. (2009). Identification of a novel HtrA1-susceptible cleavage site in human aggrecan: evidence for the involvement of HtrA1 in aggrecan proteolysis in vivo. J Biol Chem 284, 27352-27359.
- Chen YE, Yin KJ, Deng Z, Hamblin M & Zhang JF. (2011). Vascular PPAR delta Protects Against Stroke-Induced Brain Injury. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis* and Vascular Biology **31**, 574-581.
- Chia SL, Sawaji Y, Burleigh A, McLean C, Inglis J, Saklatvala J & Vincent T. (2009). Fibroblast growth factor 2 is an intrinsic chondroprotective agent that suppresses ADAMTS-5 and delays cartilage degradation in murine osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 60, 2019-2027.
- Clark JM. (1990). The organisation of collagen fibrils in the superficial zones of articular cartilage. J Anat 171, 117-130.

- Corton JM, Gillespie JG, Hawley SA & Hardie DG. (1995). 5-aminoimidazole-4carboxamide ribonucleoside. A specific method for activating AMP-activated protein kinase in intact cells? *Eur J Biochem* **229**, 558-565.
- Cucchiarini M, Thurn T, Weimer A, Kohn D, Terwilliger EF & Madry H. (2007). Restoration of the extracellular matrix in human osteoarthritic articular cartilage by overexpression of the transcription factor SOX9. *Arthritis Rheum* 56, 158-167.
- Davidson RK, Waters JG, Kevorkian L, Darrah C, Cooper A, Donell ST & Clark IM. (2006). Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in synovium and cartilage. *Arthritis Res Ther* 8, R124.
- Doege KJ, Sasaki M, Kimura T & Yamada Y. (1991). Complete coding sequence and deduced primary structure of the human cartilage large aggregating proteoglycan, aggrecan. Human-specific repeats, and additional alternatively spliced forms. *J Biol Chem* **266**, 894-902.
- Durigova M, Nagase H, Mort JS & Roughley PJ. (2011). MMPs are less efficient than ADAMTS5 in cleaving aggrecan core protein. *Matrix Biol* **30**, 145-153.
- Ellman MB, An HS, Muddasani P & Im HJ. (2008). Biological impact of the fibroblast growth factor family on articular cartilage and intervertebral disc homeostasis. *Gene* 420, 82-89.
- Evans RM, Barish GD & Wang YX. (2004). PPARs and the complex journey to obesity. *Nat Med* 10, 355-361.
- Eyre DR. (2004). Collagens and cartilage matrix homeostasis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*, S118-122.
- Felson DT, Gale DR, Elon Gale M, Niu J, Hunter DJ, Goggins J & Lavalley MP. (2005). Osteophytes and progression of knee osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology* (Oxford) 44, 100-104.
- Fermor B, Gurumurthy A & Diekman BO. (2010). Hypoxia, RONS and energy metabolism in articular cartilage. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 18, 1167-1173.
- Fernandes JC, Martel-Pelletier J & Pelletier JP. (2002). The role of cytokines in osteoarthritis pathophysiology. *Biorheology* **39**, 237-246.
- Flannery CR, Lark MW & Sandy JD. (1992). Identification of a stromelysin cleavage site within the interglobular domain of human aggrecan. Evidence for proteolysis at this site in vivo in human articular cartilage. *J Biol Chem* 267, 1008-1014.

- Forsyth CB, Cole A, Murphy G, Bienias JL, Im HJ & Loeser RF, Jr. (2005). Increased matrix metalloproteinase-13 production with aging by human articular chondrocytes in response to catabolic stimuli. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 60, 1118-1124.
- Fosang AJ, Last K, Knauper V, Murphy G & Neame PJ. (1996a). Degradation of cartilage aggrecan by collagenase-3 (MMP-13). *FEBS Lett* **380**, 17-20.
- Fosang AJ, Last K & Maciewicz RA. (1996b). Aggrecan is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases in human arthritis. Evidence that matrix metalloproteinase and aggrecanase activities can be independent. *J Clin Invest* **98**, 2292-2299.
- Francois M, Richette P, Tsagris L, Fitting C, Lemay C, Benallaoua M, Tahiri K & Corvol MT. (2006). Activation of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha pathway potentiates interleukin-1 receptor antagonist production in cytokine-treated chondrocytes. *Arthritis Rheum* **54**, 1233-1245.
- Fredenrich A & Grimaldi PA. (2005). PPAR delta: an uncompletely known nuclear receptor. *Diabetes Metab* **31**, 23-27.
- Fuerst M, Bertrand J, Lammers L, Dreier R, Echtermeyer F, Nitschke Y, Rutsch F, Schafer FK, Niggemeyer O, Steinhagen J, Lohmann CH, Pap T & Ruther W. (2009). Calcification of articular cartilage in human osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 60, 2694-2703.
- Gearing KL, Gottlicher M, Teboul M, Widmark E & Gustafsson JA. (1993). Interaction of the peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor and retinoid X receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **90**, 1440-1444.
- Gillespie JR, Ulici V, Dupuis H, Higgs A, Dimattia A, Patel S, Woodgett JR & Beier F. (2011). Deletion of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta in cartilage results in up-regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3alpha protein expression. *Endocrinology* 152, 1755-1766.
- Glasson SS, Askew R, Sheppard B, Carito B, Blanchet T, Ma HL, Flannery CR, Peluso D, Kanki K, Yang Z, Majumdar MK & Morris EA. (2005). Deletion of active ADAMTS5 prevents cartilage degradation in a murine model of osteoarthritis. *Nature* 434, 644-648.
- Glasson SS, Askew R, Sheppard B, Carito BA, Blanchet T, Ma HL, Flannery CR, Kanki K, Wang E, Peluso D, Yang Z, Majumdar MK & Morris EA. (2004). Characterization of and osteoarthritis susceptibility in ADAMTS-4-knockout mice. Arthritis Rheum 50, 2547-2558.

- Glasson SS, Blanchet TJ & Morris EA. (2007). The surgical destabilization of the medial meniscus (DMM) model of osteoarthritis in the 129/SvEv mouse. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 15, 1061-1069.
- Goldring MB. (2000). Osteoarthritis and cartilage: the role of cytokines. Curr Rheumatol Rep 2, 459-465.
- Goldring MB. (2002). Molecular regulation of the chondrocyte phenotype. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2, 517-520.
- Goldring MB & Goldring SR. (2007). Osteoarthritis. J Cell Physiol 213, 626-634.
- Gouttenoire J, Valcourt U, Ronziere MC, Aubert-Foucher E, Mallein-Gerin F & Herbage D. (2004). Modulation of collagen synthesis in normal and osteoarthritic cartilage. *Biorheology* **41**, 535-542.
- Guan TJ, Qin FJ, Du JH, Geng L, Zhang YY & Li M. (2007). AICAR inhibits proliferation and induced S-phase arrest, and promotes apoptosis in CaSki cells. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 28, 1984-1990.
- Halawani D, Mondeh R, Stanton LA & Beier F. (2004). p38 MAP kinase signaling is necessary for rat chondrosarcoma cell proliferation. *Oncogene* 23, 3726-3731.
- Han Y & Lefebvre V. (2008). L-Sox5 and Sox6 drive expression of the aggrecan gene in cartilage by securing binding of Sox9 to a far-upstream enhancer. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 4999-5013.
- Hardie DG, Carling D & Carlson M. (1998). The AMP-activated/SNF1 protein kinase subfamily: metabolic sensors of the eukaryotic cell? *Annu Rev Biochem* 67, 821-855.
- Hardie DG & Pan DA. (2002). Regulation of fatty acid synthesis and oxidation by the AMP-activated protein kinase. *Biochem Soc Trans* **30**, 1064-1070.
- Hardie DG & Sakamoto K. (2006). AMPK: a key sensor of fuel and energy status in skeletal muscle. *Physiology (Bethesda)* **21**, 48-60.
- Hardingham TE. (1979). The role of link-protein in the structure of cartilage proteoglycan aggregates. *Biochem J* 177, 237-247.
- Hardingham TE & Fosang AJ. (1992). Proteoglycans: many forms and many functions. *FASEB J* 6, 861-870.
- Hashimoto S, Takahashi K, Amiel D, Coutts RD & Lotz M. (1998). Chondrocyte apoptosis and nitric oxide production during experimentally induced osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* **41**, 1266-1274.
- Hayami T, Pickarski M, Wesolowski GA, McLane J, Bone A, Destefano J, Rodan GA & Duong le T. (2004). The role of subchondral bone remodeling in osteoarthritis: reduction of cartilage degeneration and prevention of osteophyte formation by alendronate in the rat anterior cruciate ligament transection model. *Arthritis Rheum* **50**, 1193-1206.
- Hill CL, Gale DG, Chaisson CE, Skinner K, Kazis L, Gale ME & Felson DT. (2001). Knee effusions, popliteal cysts, and synovial thickening: association with knee pain in osteoarthritis. *J Rheumatol* 28, 1330-1337.
- Holmes BF, Kurth-Kraczek EJ & Winder WW. (1999). Chronic activation of 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase increases GLUT-4, hexokinase, and glycogen in muscle. *J Appl Physiol* 87, 1990-1995.
- Homandberg GA. (2001). Cartilage damage by matrix degradation products: fibronectin fragments. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*, S100-107.
- Hu SI, Carozza M, Klein M, Nantermet P, Luk D & Crowl RM. (1998). Human HtrA, an evolutionarily conserved serine protease identified as a differentially expressed gene product in osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Biol Chem* 273, 34406-34412.
- Hughes CE, Caterson B, Fosang AJ, Roughley PJ & Mort JS. (1995). Monoclonal antibodies that specifically recognize neoepitope sequences generated by 'aggrecanase' and matrix metalloproteinase cleavage of aggrecan: application to catabolism in situ and in vitro. *Biochem J* **305** (Pt 3), 799-804.
- Huss JM, Torra IP, Staels B, Giguere V & Kelly DP. (2004). Estrogen-related receptor alpha directs peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha signaling in the transcriptional control of energy metabolism in cardiac and skeletal muscle. *Mol Cell Biol* **24**, 9079-9091.
- Hyttinen MM, Toyras J, Lapvetelainen T, Lindblom J, Prockop DJ, Li SW, Arita M, Jurvelin JS & Helminen HJ. (2001). Inactivation of one allele of the type II collagen gene alters the collagen network in murine articular cartilage and makes cartilage softer. Ann Rheum Dis 60, 262-268.
- Ikeda T, Kamekura S, Mabuchi A, Kou I, Seki S, Takato T, Nakamura K, Kawaguchi H, Ikegawa S & Chung UI. (2004). The combination of SOX5, SOX6, and SOX9 (the SOX trio) provides signals sufficient for induction of permanent cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum* 50, 3561-3573.
- Janusz MJ, Little CB, King LE, Hookfin EB, Brown KK, Heitmeyer SA, Caterson B, Poole AR & Taiwo YO. (2004). Detection of aggrecanase- and MMP-

generated catabolic neoepitopes in the rat iodoacetate model of cartilage degeneration. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12, 720-728.

- Jeffery AK. (1975). Osteophytes and the osteoarthritic femoral head. J Bone Joint Surg Br 57, 314-324.
- Johansson N, Saarialho-Kere U, Airola K, Herva R, Nissinen L, Westermarck J, Vuorio E, Heino J & Kahari VM. (1997). Collagenase-3 (MMP-13) is expressed by hypertrophic chondrocytes, periosteal cells, and osteoblasts during human fetal bone development. *Dev Dyn* **208**, 387-397.
- Junqueira LC, Bignolas G & Brentani RR. (1979). Picrosirius staining plus polarization microscopy, a specific method for collagen detection in tissue sections. *Histochem J* 11, 447-455.
- Karsdal MA, Madsen SH, Christiansen C, Henriksen K, Fosang AJ & Sondergaard BC. (2008). Cartilage degradation is fully reversible in the presence of aggrecanase but not matrix metalloproteinase activity. Arthritis Res Ther 10, R63.
- Kaul G, Cucchiarini M, Arntzen D, Zurakowski D, Menger MD, Kohn D, Trippel SB & Madry H. (2006). Local stimulation of articular cartilage repair by transplantation of encapsulated chondrocytes overexpressing human fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF-2) in vivo. J Gene Med 8, 100-111.
- Klooster AR & Bernier SM. (2005). Tumor necrosis factor alpha and epidermal growth factor act additively to inhibit matrix gene expression by chondrocyte. *Arthritis Res Ther* 7, R127-138.
- Knauper V, Lopez-Otin C, Smith B, Knight G & Murphy G. (1996). Biochemical characterization of human collagenase-3. *J Biol Chem* 271, 1544-1550.
- Krasnokutsky S, Samuels J & Abramson SB. (2007). Osteoarthritis in 2007. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 65, 222-228.
- Lane LB, Villacin A & Bullough PG. (1977). The vascularity and remodelling of subchondrial bone and calcified cartilage in adult human femoral and humeral heads. An age- and stress-related phenomenon. J Bone Joint Surg Br 59, 272-278.
- Lee CH, Olson P, Hevener A, Mehl I, Chong LW, Olefsky JM, Gonzalez FJ, Ham J, Kang H, Peters JM & Evans RM. (2006). PPARdelta regulates glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 3444-3449.
- Lee JS & Im GI. (2011). SOX Trio Decrease in the Articular Cartilage with the Advancement of Osteoarthritis. *Connect Tissue Res.*

- Lefebvre V, Huang W, Harley VR, Goodfellow PN & de Crombrugghe B. (1997). SOX9 is a potent activator of the chondrocyte-specific enhancer of the pro alpha1(II) collagen gene. *Mol Cell Biol* **17**, 2336-2346.
- LeGrand A, Fermor B, Fink C, Pisetsky DS, Weinberg JB, Vail TP & Guilak F. (2001). Interleukin-1, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interleukin-17 synergistically up-regulate nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 production in explants of human osteoarthritic knee menisci. *Arthritis Rheum* 44, 2078-2083.
- Lippiello L, Hall D & Mankin HJ. (1977). Collagen synthesis in normal and osteoarthritic human cartilage. J Clin Invest 59, 593-600.
- Little CB, Barai A, Burkhardt D, Smith SM, Fosang AJ, Werb Z, Shah M & Thompson EW. (2009). Matrix metalloproteinase 13-deficient mice are resistant to osteoarthritic cartilage erosion but not chondrocyte hypertrophy or osteophyte development. *Arthritis Rheum* **60**, 3723-3733.
- Little CB, Hughes CE, Curtis CL, Janusz MJ, Bohne R, Wang-Weigand S, Taiwo YO, Mitchell PG, Otterness IG, Flannery CR & Caterson B. (2002). Matrix metalloproteinases are involved in C-terminal and interglobular domain processing of cartilage aggrecan in late stage cartilage degradation. *Matrix Biol* **21**, 271-288.
- Liu Z, Lavine KJ, Hung IH & Ornitz DM. (2007). FGF18 is required for early chondrocyte proliferation, hypertrophy and vascular invasion of the growth plate. *Dev Biol* **302**, 80-91.
- Livak KJ & Schmittgen TD. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods* 25, 402-408.
- Loeser RF. (2009). Aging and osteoarthritis: the role of chondrocyte senescence and aging changes in the cartilage matrix. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 17, 971-979.
- Loeser RF, Shanker G, Carlson CS, Gardin JF, Shelton BJ & Sonntag WE. (2000). Reduction in the chondrocyte response to insulin-like growth factor 1 in aging and osteoarthritis: studies in a non-human primate model of naturally occurring disease. *Arthritis Rheum* **43**, 2110-2120.
- Majumdar MK, Askew R, Schelling S, Stedman N, Blanchet T, Hopkins B, Morris EA & Glasson SS. (2007). Double-knockout of ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5 in mice results in physiologically normal animals and prevents the progression of osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 56, 3670-3674.

- Malfait AM, Liu RQ, Ijiri K, Komiya S & Tortorella MD. (2002). Inhibition of ADAM-TS4 and ADAM-TS5 prevents aggreean degradation in osteoarthritic cartilage. J Biol Chem 277, 22201-22208.
- Maroudas AI. (1976). Balance between swelling pressure and collagen tension in normal and degenerate cartilage. *Nature* 260, 808-809.
- Melchiorri C, Meliconi R, Frizziero L, Silvestri T, Pulsatelli L, Mazzetti I, Borzi RM, Uguccioni M & Facchini A. (1998). Enhanced and coordinated in vivo expression of inflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide synthase by chondrocytes from patients with osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* **41**, 2165-2174.
- Mendler M, Eich-Bender SG, Vaughan L, Winterhalter KH & Bruckner P. (1989). Cartilage contains mixed fibrils of collagen types II, IX, and XI. *J Cell Biol* **108**, 191-197.
- Mengshol JA, Vincenti MP, Coon CI, Barchowsky A & Brinckerhoff CE. (2000). Interleukin-1 induction of collagenase 3 (matrix metalloproteinase 13) gene expression in chondrocytes requires p38, c-Jun N-terminal kinase, and nuclear factor kappaB: differential regulation of collagenase 1 and collagenase 3. Arthritis Rheum 43, 801-811.
- Menze MA, Clavenna MJ & Hand SC. (2005). Depression of cell metabolism and proliferation by membrane-permeable and -impermeable modulators: role for AMP-to-ATP ratio. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **288**, R501-510.
- Moore EE, Bendele AM, Thompson DL, Littau A, Waggie KS, Reardon B & Ellsworth JL. (2005). Fibroblast growth factor-18 stimulates chondrogenesis and cartilage repair in a rat model of injury-induced osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 13, 623-631.
- Mow VC & Lai WM. (1980). Recent Developments in Synovial Joint Biomechanics. Siam Review 22, 275-317.
- Mu J, Barton ER & Birnbaum MJ. (2003). Selective suppression of AMP-activated protein kinase in skeletal muscle: update on 'lazy mice'. *Biochem Soc Trans* 31, 236-241.
- Murgia M, Jensen TE, Cusinato M, Garcia M, Richter EA & Schiaffino S. (2009). Multiple signalling pathways redundantly control glucose transporter GLUT4 gene transcription in skeletal muscle. *J Physiol* **587**, 4319-4327.
- Naito S, Shiomi T, Okada A, Kimura T, Chijiiwa M, Fujita Y, Yatabe T, Komiya K, Enomoto H, Fujikawa K & Okada Y. (2007). Expression of ADAMTS4 (aggrecanase-1) in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *Pathol Int* **57**, 703-711.

- Narkar VA, Downes M, Yu RT, Embler E, Wang YX, Banayo E, Mihaylova MM, Nelson MC, Zou Y, Juguilon H, Kang H, Shaw RJ & Evans RM. (2008). AMPK and PPARdelta agonists are exercise mimetics. *Cell* **134**, 405-415.
- Oegema TR, Jr., Carpenter RJ, Hofmeister F & Thompson RC, Jr. (1997). The interaction of the zone of calcified cartilage and subchondral bone in osteoarthritis. *Microsc Res Tech* **37**, 324-332.
- Palfrey AJ & Davies DV. (1966). The fine structure of chondrocytes. J Anat 100, 213-226.
- Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J & Abramson SB. (2001). Osteoarthritis, an inflammatory disease: potential implication for the selection of new therapeutic targets. *Arthritis Rheum* 44, 1237-1247.
- Peterson J, Bihain BE, Bengtsson-Olivecrona G, Deckelbaum RJ, Carpentier YA & Olivecrona T. (1990). Fatty acid control of lipoprotein lipase: a link between energy metabolism and lipid transport. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **87**, 909-913.
- Poleni PE, Bianchi A, Etienne S, Koufany M, Sebillaud S, Netter P, Terlain B & Jouzeau JY. (2007). Agonists of peroxisome proliferators-activated receptors (PPAR) alpha, beta/delta or gamma reduce transforming growth factor (TGF)beta-induced proteoglycans' production in chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 15, 493-505.
- Poleni PE, Etienne S, Velot E, Netter P & Bianchi A. (2010). Activation of PPARs alpha, beta/delta, and gamma Impairs TGF-beta1-Induced Collagens' Production and Modulates the TIMP-1/MMPs Balance in Three-Dimensional Cultured Chondrocytes. PPAR Res 2010, 635912.
- Polur I, Lee PL, Servais JM, Xu L & Li Y. (2010). Role of HTRA1, a serine protease, in the progression of articular cartilage degeneration. *Histol Histopathol* 25, 599-608.
- Poole AR. (1999). An introduction to the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. Front Biosci 4, D662-670.
- Pratta MA, Yao W, Decicco C, Tortorella MD, Liu RQ, Copeland RA, Magolda R, Newton RC, Trzaskos JM & Arner EC. (2003). Aggrecan protects cartilage collagen from proteolytic cleavage. J Biol Chem 278, 45539-45545.
- Puchtler H, Waldrop FS & Valentine LS. (1973). Fluorescence microscopic distinction between elastin and collagen. *Histochemie* **35**, 17-30.

- Reginster JY. (2002). The prevalence and burden of arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 41 Supp 1, 3-6.
- Rhaney K & Lamb DW. (1955). The cysts of osteoarthritis of the hip; a radiological and pathological study. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* **37-B**, 663-675.
- Rothwell AG & Bentley G. (1973). Chondrocyte multiplication in osteoarthritic articular cartilage. J Bone Joint Surg Br 55, 588-594.
- Sandell LJ & Aigner T. (2001). Articular cartilage and changes in arthritis. An introduction: cell biology of osteoarthritis. Arthritis Res 3, 107-113.
- Sandy JD, Adams ME, Billingham ME, Plaas A & Muir H. (1984). In vivo and in vitro stimulation of chondrocyte biosynthetic activity in early experimental osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 27, 388-397.
- Sandy JD, Neame PJ, Boynton RE & Flannery CR. (1991). Catabolism of aggrecan in cartilage explants. Identification of a major cleavage site within the interglobular domain. *J Biol Chem* **266**, 8683-8685.
- Sawaji Y, Hynes J, Vincent T & Saklatvala J. (2008). Fibroblast growth factor 2 inhibits induction of aggrecanase activity in human articular cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum* 58, 3498-3509.
- Scharstuhl A, Glansbeek HL, van Beuningen HM, Vitters EL, van der Kraan PM & van den Berg WB. (2002). Inhibition of endogenous TGF-beta during experimental osteoarthritis prevents osteophyte formation and impairs cartilage repair. *J Immunol* **169**, 507-514.
- Schmidt TA, Gastelum NS, Nguyen QT, Schumacher BL & Sah RL. (2007). Boundary lubrication of articular cartilage: role of synovial fluid constituents. *Arthritis Rheum* 56, 882-891.
- Seedorf U & Aberle J. (2007). Emerging roles of PPARdelta in metabolism. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1771, 1125-1131.
- Sekiya I, Tsuji K, Koopman P, Watanabe H, Yamada Y, Shinomiya K, Nifuji A & Noda M. (2000). SOX9 enhances aggrecan gene promoter/enhancer activity and is up-regulated by retinoic acid in a cartilage-derived cell line, TC6. J Biol Chem 275, 10738-10744.
- Shao YY, Wang L, Hicks DG, Tarr S & Ballock RT. (2005). Expression and activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors in growth plate chondrocytes. *J Orthop Res* 23, 1139-1145.

- Shimoaka T, Ogasawara T, Yonamine A, Chikazu D, Kawano H, Nakamura K, Itoh N & Kawaguchi H. (2002). Regulation of osteoblast, chondrocyte, and osteoclast functions by fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-18 in comparison with FGF-2 and FGF-10. J Biol Chem 277, 7493-7500.
- Siczkowski M & Watt FM. (1990). Subpopulations of chondrocytes from different zones of pig articular cartilage. Isolation, growth and proteoglycan synthesis in culture. *J Cell Sci* 97 (Pt 2), 349-360.
- Smith PK, Krohn RI, Hermanson GT, Mallia AK, Gartner FH, Provenzano MD, Fujimoto EK, Goeke NM, Olson BJ & Klenk DC. (1985). Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. Anal Biochem 150, 76-85.
- Solomon LA, Li JR, Berube NG & Beier F. (2009). Loss of ATRX in chondrocytes has minimal effects on skeletal development. *PLoS One* **4**, e7106.
- Song RH, Tortorella MD, Malfait AM, Alston JT, Yang Z, Arner EC & Griggs DW. (2007). Aggrecan degradation in human articular cartilage explants is mediated by both ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5. *Arthritis Rheum* **56**, 575-585.
- Stanton H, Rogerson FM, East CJ, Golub SB, Lawlor KE, Meeker CT, Little CB, Last K, Farmer PJ, Campbell IK, Fourie AM & Fosang AJ. (2005). ADAMTS5 is the major aggrecanase in mouse cartilage in vivo and in vitro. *Nature* 434, 648-652.
- Stanton LA, Li JR & Beier F. (2010). PPARgamma2 expression in growth plate chondrocytes is regulated by p38 and GSK-3. *J Cell Mol Med* 14, 242-256.
- Steinberg GR & Kemp BE. (2009). AMPK in Health and Disease. *Physiol Rev* 89, 1025-1078.
- Swingler TE, Waters JG, Davidson RK, Pennington CJ, Puente XS, Darrah C, Cooper A, Donell ST, Guile GR, Wang W & Clark IM. (2009). Degradome expression profiling in human articular cartilage. *Arthritis Res Ther* 11, R96.
- Sznaidman ML, Haffner CD, Maloney PR, Fivush A, Chao E, Goreham D, Sierra ML, LeGrumelec C, Xu HE, Montana VG, Lambert MH, Willson TM, Oliver WR, Jr. & Sternbach DD. (2003). Novel selective small molecule agonists for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta (PPARdelta)--synthesis and biological activity. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 13, 1517-1521.
- Sztrolovics R, Alini M, Roughley PJ & Mort JS. (1997). Aggrecan degradation in human intervertebral disc and articular cartilage. *Biochem J* 326 (Pt 1), 235-241.

- Takahashi I, Nuckolls GH, Takahashi K, Tanaka O, Semba I, Dashner R, Shum L & Slavkin HC. (1998). Compressive force promotes sox9, type II collagen and aggrecan and inhibits IL-1beta expression resulting in chondrogenesis in mouse embryonic limb bud mesenchymal cells. J Cell Sci 111 (Pt 14), 2067-2076.
- Takaishi H, Kimura T, Dalal S, Okada Y & D'Armiento J. (2008). Joint diseases and matrix metalloproteinases: a role for MMP-13. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 9, 47-54.
- Taskiran D, Stefanovic-Racic M, Georgescu H & Evans C. (1994). Nitric oxide mediates suppression of cartilage proteoglycan synthesis by interleukin-1. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 200, 142-148.
- Tchetina EV, Antoniou J, Tanzer M, Zukor DJ & Poole AR. (2006). Transforming growth factor-beta2 suppresses collagen cleavage in cultured human osteoarthritic cartilage, reduces expression of genes associated with chondrocyte hypertrophy and degradation, and increases prostaglandin E(2) production. *Am J Pathol* **168**, 131-140.
- Terkeltaub R, Yang B, Lotz M & Liu-Bryan R. (2011). Chondrocyte AMP-activated protein kinase activity suppresses matrix degradation responses to proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1beta and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Arthritis Rheum* 63, 1928-1937.
- Trippel SB. (1995). Growth factor actions on articular cartilage. *J Rheumatol Suppl* **43**, 129-132.
- Tsuchiya A, Yano M, Tocharus J, Kojima H, Fukumoto M, Kawaichi M & Oka C. (2005). Expression of mouse HtrA1 serine protease in normal bone and cartilage and its upregulation in joint cartilage damaged by experimental arthritis. *Bone* 37, 323-336.
- Ulici V, Hoenselaar KD, Gillespie JR & Beier F. (2008). The PI3K pathway regulates endochondral bone growth through control of hypertrophic chondrocyte differentiation. *BMC Dev Biol* **8**, 40.
- Ulrich-Vinther M, Maloney MD, Schwarz EM, Rosier R & O'Keefe RJ. (2003). Articular cartilage biology. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 11, 421-430.
- van Beuningen HM, van der Kraan PM, Arntz OJ & van den Berg WB. (1994). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 stimulates articular chondrocyte proteoglycan synthesis and induces osteophyte formation in the murine knee joint. *Lab Invest* **71**, 279-290.

- Viana AY, Sakoda H, Anai M, Fujishiro M, Ono H, Kushiyama A, Fukushima Y, Sato Y, Oshida Y, Uchijima Y, Kurihara H & Asano T. (2006). Role of hepatic AMPK activation in glucose metabolism and dexamethasone-induced regulation of AMPK expression. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 73, 135-142.
- Vincenti MP & Brinckerhoff CE. (2002). Transcriptional regulation of collagenase (MMP-1, MMP-13) genes in arthritis: integration of complex signaling pathways for the recruitment of gene-specific transcription factors. *Arthritis Res* **4**, 157-164.
- Viollet B, Andreelli F, Jorgensen SB, Perrin C, Flamez D, Mu J, Wojtaszewski JF, Schuit FC, Birnbaum M, Richter E, Burcelin R & Vaulont S. (2003). Physiological role of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK): insights from knockout mouse models. *Biochem Soc Trans* 31, 216-219.
- Viollet B, Athea Y, Mounier R, Guigas B, Zarrinpashneh E, Horman S, Lantier L, Hebrard S, Devin-Leclerc J, Beauloye C, Foretz M, Andreelli F, Ventura-Clapier R & Bertrand L. (2009). AMPK: Lessons from transgenic and knockout animals. Front Biosci 14, 19-44.
- Visse R & Nagase H. (2003). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circ Res* **92**, 827-839.
- Vu TH & Werb Z. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases: effectors of development and normal physiology. *Genes Dev* 14, 2123-2133.
- Wan J, Jiang L, Lu Q, Ke L, Li X & Tong N. (2010). Activation of PPARdelta upregulates fatty acid oxidation and energy uncoupling genes of mitochondria and reduces palmitate-induced apoptosis in pancreatic beta-cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 391, 1567-1572.
- Wang G, Woods A, Agoston H, Ulici V, Glogauer M & Beier F. (2007). Genetic ablation of Rac1 in cartilage results in chondrodysplasia. Dev Biol 306, 612-623.
- Wang G, Woods A, Sabari S, Pagnotta L, Stanton LA & Beier F. (2004). RhoA/ROCK signaling suppresses hypertrophic chondrocyte differentiation. J Biol Chem 279, 13205-13214.
- Wong M, Wuethrich P, Eggli P & Hunziker E. (1996). Zone-specific cell biosynthetic activity in mature bovine articular cartilage: a new method using confocal microscopic stereology and quantitative autoradiography. J Orthop Res 14, 424-432.

- Woods A, James CG, Wang G, Dupuis H & Beier F. (2009). Control of Chondrocyte Gene Expression by Actin Dynamics: A Novel Role of Cholesterol/Roralpha Signaling in Endochondral Bone Growth. *J Cell Mol Med*.
- Yaeger PC, Masi TL, de Ortiz JL, Binette F, Tubo R & McPherson JM. (1997). Synergistic action of transforming growth factor-beta and insulin-like growth factor-I induces expression of type II collagen and aggrecan genes in adult human articular chondrocytes. *Exp Cell Res* 237, 318-325.
- Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Minokoshi Y, Ito Y, Waki H, Uchida S, Yamashita S, Noda M, Kita S, Ueki K, Eto K, Akanuma Y, Froguel P, Foufelle F, Ferre P, Carling D, Kimura S, Nagai R, Kahn BB & Kadowaki T. (2002). Adiponectin stimulates glucose utilization and fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nat Med* 8, 1288-1295.
- Yoshihara Y, Nakamura H, Obata K, Yamada H, Hayakawa T, Fujikawa K & Okada Y. (2000). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis or osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 59, 455-461.



Trans. Press Danis

### **APPENDIX A**

#### **Animal Use Protocol**

and the second se



AUP Number: 2007-045-06 PI Name: Beier, Frank AUP Title: Regulation Of Endochondral Bone Growth By Hormones

Official Notice of Animal Use Subcommittee (AUS) Approval: Your new Animal Use Protocol (AUP) entitled "Regulation Of Endochondral Bone Growth By Hormones" has been APPROVED by the Animal Use Subcommittee of the University Council on Animal Care. This approval, although valid for four years, and is subject to annual Protocol Renewal.2007-045-06::5

- 1. This AUP number must be indicated when ordering animals for this project.
- 2. Animals for other projects may not be ordered under this AUP number.
- 3. Purchases of animals other than through this system must be cleared through the ACVS office. Health certificates will be required.

The holder of this Animal Use Protocol is responsible to ensure that all associated safety components (biosafety, radiation safety, general laboratory safety) comply with institutional safety standards and have received all necessary approvals. Please consult directly with your institutional safety officers.

Submitted by: Copeman, Laura on behalf of the Animal Use Subcommittee University Council on Animal Care

The University of Western Ontario

Animal Use Subcommittee / University Council on Animal Care Health Sciences Centre, • London, Ontario • CANADA - N6A 5C1 PH: 519-661-2111 ext. 86768 • FL 519-661-2028 Email: <u>auspc@uwo.ca</u> • http://www.uwo.ca.animal.website

# APPENDIX B

# Supplementary Figures

CARLES AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS

## Supplementary Figure.

Adult wild-type knee joints were dissected from adult wild-type mice and treated with 10µM retinoic acid in order to induce cartilage ECM breakdown. Knee joints treated with DMSO served as vehicle controls. Tissues were prepared for histology through standard protocols of decalcified paraffin sections. Sections were stained with a primary antibody for type II collagen neoepitopes and served as positive control for this antibody.



and the second second

and a second

The Driver of Streem Ones

10.000

- Dool Name Press

The Community of Strength Linearity

113,140

WILL'S

The Local sector of Venneral Linearce